
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
COUNTY OF KINGS: CRIMINAL TERM 
------------------------------------------------------------------X     
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,       
   
     Respondent,   NOTICE OF 
         MOTION 
  -against-       
 
         Ind. No.: 2183/86 
KEVIN SMITH,          
     Defendant. 
------------------------------------------------------------------X    
 
SIRS:  

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, that upon the annexed Affirmation of JUSTIN BONUS, dated 

January 3, 2020, and all the proceedings and pleadings had herein and upon the Exhibits annexed 

hereto, Defendant shall move this court at the courthouse located at 320 Jay Street, Brooklyn, New 

York on the 15th day of February, 2020 at 9:30 o’clock  in the forenoon of that day, or as soon 

thereafter as counsel can be heard, for an Order pursuant to CPL 440.10 (1) (b), (c), (d), (f), (g) and 

(h) vacating the judgment and dismissing the indictment on the grounds that: 

(1) Mr. Smith is actually innocent.  No fewer than 6 witnesses have stated either that Smith 

was not the person who shot Van Dorn on November 10, 1984 or that Trent Vernon 

Richardson is/was wholly unreliable, including affidavits from Ronald Moore, Frederick 

Shaw, Norman Richardson, Kevin Bazemore, Elpidio DeLeon and Frank Paone. Dr. 

Richard Leo’s and Dr. Brian Cutler’s expert reports detailed the high probability that 

Richardson’s testimony at trial was coerced, and, therefore, unreliable. Finally, Dr. Cyril 

Wecht recreated the shooting and refuted both Richardson’s trial testimony and audio 

taped statement that he provided the DA’s Office, which supports witness statements that 

Richardson did not see the shooting.      

(2) Newly discovered evidence:   



a.  Expert reports of Dr. Richard Leo and Dr. Brian Cutler;  

b. Expert report of Dr. Cyril Wecht; and 

c. Affidavits of Elpidio DeLeon, Norman Richardson, Frank Paonne, and Joseph 

Gianni; and 

d. The actions of Detective Louis Scarcella. 

(3) Substantive due process violations:   

a. The People’s failure to turn over the audio taped statement and transcript of 

Richardson, which is supported by the affidavit for Joseph Gianni; 

b. The coercive tactics used to procure the testimony of Richardson;  

c. Richardson’s testimony was plainly false at trial.  

(4) Ineffective assistance of counsel:    

a. Failure to investigate and call eyewitnesses; and 

b. Failure to call a forensic pathologist to recreate the shooting, which would have 

soundly refuted Richardson’s version of the events. 

WHEREFORE, based on all the evidence attached to the motion it is prayed the motion be 

granted in its entirety and the Court vacate the judgment and dismiss the indictment or grant a new 

trial, or in the alternative, a hearing be held to determine the truth of the claims presented herein.  See 

CPL §§ 440.30(3); 440.10(4) & (5).  

 PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that answer and/or cross moving papers, if any, 

must be served and filed no later than seven (7) days prior to the return date of this motion, 

pursuant to Section 2214(b) of the Civil Practice Law and Rules. 

Dated: Forest Hills, New York 
 January 3, 2020 
       Very truly yours, 
 
       JUSTIN C. BONUS, ATTORNEY AT LAW 
 



 
       /s/ Justin Bonus________________________ 
       JUSTIN C. BONUS 
       Attorney for Kevin Smith 
       118-35 Queens Blvd, Suite 400 
       Forest Hills, NY, 11375 
       P: 347.920.0160 
       E: Justin.bonus@gmail.com 
 
 
Eric Gonzalez 
Kings County District Attorney 
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
COUNTY OF KINGS: CRIMINAL TERM 
---------------------------------------------------------------------  
THE PEOPLE THE STATE OF NEW YORK    
 
        AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT 
    Respondents   OF MOTION TO VACATE 
        JUDGMENT 
 -against- 
 
        IND. NO. 2183/86 
KEVIN SMITH, 
         
    Defendant. 
----------------------------------------------------------------------  
 
 Justin Bonus, an attorney duly admitted to practice law in the State of New York affirms 

under the penalty of perjury pursuant to CPLR § 2106, upon information and belief, the following is 

true: 

 1. As the attorney for Kevin Smith, I am fully familiar with the facts and circumstances 

surrounding his case. Therefore, I make this affirmation in support of Mr. Smith’s motion to vacate 

judgment, either by dismissing the indictment or ordering a new trial on the grounds of actual 

innocence, newly discovered evidence and ineffective assistance of counsel. The information 

contained herein is based on the court file and other pertinent documents. 

 2. This C.P.L. 440.10 motion presents an opportunity for the court to correct a manifest 

injustice. The defendant, Kevin Smith (herein referred to as “Mr. Smith” or “Smith”), was charged 

and convicted of murder in the second degree based on the testimony of a single witness. However, 

this supposed witness, Trent Vernon Richardson, told the trial court immediately before the trial that 

he did not observe Smith on November 10, 1984- the date of the murder. According to his testimony, 

Richardson was in the vicinity of the crime, but did not actually see the victim, Gary Van Dorn, get 

killed. Directly after testifying, Richardson was arrested and taken to the 81st Precinct, where he was 

held for 4 days.  During that time, he was not allowed to speak with his family and was denied a 
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shower, as well as basic required hygiene products. Essentially, he was a hostage of the New York City 

Police Department and the Kings County District Attorney’s Office until he complied with their 

demands.1 While he was informed that he was charged with perjury, there are no records stating that 

he was actually arraigned in criminal court, as he was taken to testify against Mr. Smith instead.  It was 

on the basis of this cruel, coercive, and inhumane punishment that Richardson decided to change his 

testimony in order to inculpate Mr. Smith.2 Mr. Smith was convicted solely upon this coerced false 

testimony.3 

3. Additionally, the murder investigation was led by Detective Louis Scarcella. Det. 

Scarcella’s practice of manufacturing evidence has been documented in a series of cases, including, 

but not limited to, People v. Hamilton, People v. Ranta, People v. Moses, and, most recently, People 

v. DeLeon.4 

4. It is contended here that Scarcella falsely attributed a statement to Smith’s co-

defendant that attests that he saw Smith shoot Van Dorn, killing him. Mr. Smith now comes to this 

Court with compelling proof that he was innocent in this murder. Said proof comes from several 

individuals who witnessed the shooting and can substantiate that Richardson lied at trial and sent 

Smith to prison. 

5. Mr. Smith’s innocence in the Van Dorn murder has been established by the most 

compelling proof possible. He thus submits that this Court should dismiss the charges against him on 

	
1 This Court should ask itself, if the defense team did this to a witness, would that be acceptable? The resounding 
answer is NO. Everyone involved would be charged with tampering with a witness and/or bribery. 
 
2 It should be noted that Richardson’s first statement to police was that he did not know who killed Mr. Van 
Dorn. See Exhibit A.  
 
3 Since 2013, the Brooklyn District Attorney's Office Conviction Review Unit has not made a determination on 
whether or not to overturn Kevin Smith's conviction. 
 
4 The Court should be aware that over 15 convictions have been vacated based upon Det. Scarcella’s conduct in 
just the last 5 years.   
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the grounds of actual innocence, pursuant to People v. Hamilton, 979 N.Y.S. 2d 97 (2d Dept. 2014), 

or alternatively, grant a new trial due to the combined effect of newly discovered evidence, substantive 

due process violations and ineffective assistance of counsel. At minimum, this Court should order a 

hearing at which the experts and witnesses to Mr. Smith’s innocence may testify. Had the jury heard 

this evidence now presented within this motion, the outcome probably would have been different.  

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

In the 4 years that I have practiced criminal law, being involved with hundreds of cases, I 
have never seen a witness who was kidnapped and coerced in the manner that Trent Vernon 
Richardson was. It is imperative that the criminal justice community resoundly condemn the  

actions of the People in the case at bar. Mr. Smith’s conviction, which was solely obtained 
through the coerced testimony of Richardson, should be vacated and dismissed or a new trial  

should be ordered. At the very least, a hearing should be held.  
 

6. Kevin Smith did not kill Gary Van Dorn. The accumulated mountain of evidence is 

a testament to his innocence. It also clearly displays the unreliability of Trent Vernon Richardson 

and the lengths that the People went to in order to secure a conviction in this case by coercing him 

into testifying. Famed forensic pathologist Dr. Cyril Wecht provided an expert report recreating the 

shooting. See Dr. Cyril H. Wecht’s expert report and resume attached as Exhibit A. Trent 

Richardson told police during his initial audio interview and then later at trial that Kevin Smith 

stood over Van Dorn and fired the fatal shot. See Exhibit B, a transcript of Richardson’s audio 

taped statement to the District Attorney’s Office. Dr. Wecht soundly refuted Richardson’s version 

of the event, lending credibility to sworn statements provided by Frederick Shaw’s and Norman 

Richardson’s stating that Trent Richardson neither saw how nor by whom Gary Van Dorn was shot 

and killed. Dr. Wecht’s report also corroborates the sworn eyewitness accounts of Ronald Moore 

and Kevin Bazemore. 

7. World-renowned false confession experts Dr. Richard Leo and Dr. Brian L. Cutler 

both found that the “conditions of Trent Richardson’s interrogation were psychologically coercive 

and contained interrogation techniques that are known to cause a person to perceive he or she has 
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no choice but to comply with the demands and/or requests of his or her interrogators”. These 

techniques are also “known to increase the risk of eliciting involuntary and/or unreliable statements, 

admissions and/or confessions.” See quotation from expert report of Dr. Richard A. Leo attached 

as Exhibit D; see expert report of Dr. Brian L. Cutler attached as Exhibit E. Richardson, after 

initially detailing what he saw at the scene to police, which entirely omitted Kevin Smith’s name, 

testified on September 4, 1987 that he did not see the shooting. He only changed his testimony after 

he was held in police custody for 4 days on perjury charges without having been arraigned or receiving the advice 

of an attorney. 

8. Mr. Smith has not stopped there in his fight to clear his name and proclaim his 

innocence. Over the years, two actual eyewitnesses have come forward to state that Kevin Smith is 

innocent of the murder of Gary Van Dorn. See Kevin Bazemore affidavit attached as Exhibit F; 

See Ronald Moore affidavit attached as Exhibit G. 4 witnesses have come forward providing sworn 

affidavits detailing Richardson’s unreliability, as well as the threats and coercion that he was 

subjected to by the People. See Elpidio DeLeon’s affidavit attached as Exhibit H; See Frederick 

Shaw’s affidavit attached as Exhibit I; See Norman Richardson’s affidavit attached as Exhibit J; 

See attorney Frank Paonne’s affidavit attached as Exhibit K.   

9. The Appellate Division Second Department ruled that if a defendant proves his 

innocence by clear and convincing evidence “the indictment should be dismissed pursuant to CPL 

440.10 (4) which authorizes that disposition where appropriate”, as “there is no need to empanel 

another jury to consider the defendant’s guilt where the trial court has determined, after a hearing, 

that no juror, acting reasonably, would find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” People 

v. Hamilton, 115 A.D.3d 12, 15, 979 N.Y.S.2d 97, 109 (N.Y.App.Div. 2d Dep’t 2014).   

10. The Court of Appeals has held that, when a witness testifies falsely, the prosecutor has 

a duty to correct that testimony.  The false testimony creates an “error so fundamental, so substantial, 
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that a verdict of guilty will not be permitted to stand”, and, therefore, the conviction must be vacated.  

See People v. Savvides, 1 N.Y.2d 554, 556-557 (1956) (People v. Creasy, 236 N.Y. 205, 221 (1923)).   

11. Based upon his trial counsel’s ineffectiveness or the newly discovered evidence 

presented in this motion, Mr. Smith is also entitled to a vacatur of his conviction if there is a 

“reasonable probability of a different outcome”, which “is ‘a fairly low threshold.’"  Riggs v. Fairman, 

399 F.3d 1179, 1183 (9th Cir. 2005), citing Sanders v. Ratelle, 21 F.3d 1446, 1461 (9th Cir.1994). 

12. Trent Vernon Richardson is a wholly incredible individual whose very first statement 

made no mention of Kevin Smith, even though Mr. Richardson knew who Smith was. See Exhibit 

A.5 Richardson became non-compliant with the People and reverted back to his original statement 

prior to trial. This led to him being brought to Court on a material witness order, which was 

executed by breaking down his mother’s door to arrest Richardson.6 See TT 214. Richardson was 

brought to court and a Sirois hearing was held, wherein Richardson informed the Court that he was 

not threatened by Mr. Smith or his co-defendant Calvin Lee, did not see the shooting, nor 

did he see Kevin Smith at the scene. TT 63-74a. The Court then released Richardson, after which 

the prosecutor informed the Court that Richardson had to pay a fine. See Exhibit K. The material 

witness order was apparently terminated, and Richardson was released to pay the fine. 

13. Smith’s trial attorney requested that Richardson not be questioned by anyone or 

“coerced” without his attorney being present. The Court reminded the prosecutor that he should 

not do that and the prosecutor represented to the Court that he wouldn’t and added, “to be frank I 

would like to spend as little time with Mr. Richardson as possible” as “I find him to be a truly 

	
5 As an aside, this Court should be aware of who Mr. Richardson is: Mr. Richardson’s criminal history spans over 
30 years and his criminal career began at the time of this incident. See Exhibit L. See also Trial Transcript page 38, 
wherein the assigned assistant district attorney informed the court disclosed that Mr. Richardson had “a few” other 
arrests prior to 1987.  
 
6This was the first of many threatening tactics used to coerce and intimidate Richardson.   
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contemptible person.” The Court then advised the prosecutor that he should both have the witness 

at his office at 9:00 AM on Tuesday morning and talk to him about the upcoming testimony 

scheduled for Tuesday afternoon. Burns replied “if, in fact we keep him.” It was at this point that 

Mr. Paonne specifically asked the prosecutor what the People’s intentions were in regard to 

Richardson. The prosecutor responded, “if they don’t incarcerate him on the warrant, Your Honor, 

my inclination is he will probably be released”. See TT 60-87.  

14. What transpired next was an abominable use of prosecutorial and investigatory 

tactics within the criminal justice system. Within 5 minutes of the end of the proceedings, the 

People, without advising Paonne, arrested Richardson as he was leaving the courtroom where the 

hearing had just taken place. Richardson was handcuffed and brought to the District Attorney’s 

Office. See TT 287-88; 314-315. There he met the trial assistant and another assistant who told him 

that he was being charged with perjury in the first degree on the basis of inconsistent statements 

which the trial assistant had just elicited moments prior. He was also informed that those charges 

carried a 7-year sentence. Although Richardson testified that an attorney, Leo Kimmel, was present, 

that would have been impossible.7 Paonne was just in Court representing Richardson and there 

would have been no way for the Court to ignore Mr. Paonne’s representation and appoint another 

18B attorney for Richardson in 5 minutes or at any time that afternoon. Paonne was both not 

present and not informed of Mr. Richardson’s arrest. See Exhibit K. 

15. From the District Attorney’s Office, Richardson was then brought directly to the 81st 

Precinct, not Central Booking. He was held for 4 days without speaking to another person or having 

a phone call. He was detained, remaining in the same clothing without being able to bathe, wash, or 

brush his teeth. He was also denied a hot meal, visitors, and any contact with the outside world. He 

	
7 Interestingly, Mr. Kimmel, who was interviewed regarding his representation of Richardson, told investigators 
that he has absolutely no recollection of Richardson or the events surrounding his representation of him.  
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was kidnapped. He was finally brought to Court Tuesday morning September 8, 1987 for arraignment 

on the perjury charge.8 It was only after ADA Silverstein from the homicide bureau met with 

Richardson that he agreed to testify against Smith.  Thus, he was immediately released so that he 

could be brought back to Court to testify in the afternoon.  

Richardson, then and now, should be disregarded as wholly incredible. In fact, there are 
eyewitnesses that have come forward stating that Kevin Smith did not shoot Gary Van Dorn. There 

are also witnesses that can provide the Court with insight regarding Richardson’s unreliability, as 
well as proof that he did not see the shooting of Gary Van Dorn. 

 
16. Dr. CYRIL WECHT reviewed the case file, which included witness statements and 

the autopsy report and sketch. Dr. Wecht confirmed what MOORE and BAZEMORE stated in 

their affidavits and also substantiated Norman Richardson’s and Shaw’s sworn statements that Trent 

Richardson saw neither how nor by whom Van Dorn was shot (See Exhibit B): 

 Following [Dr. Wecht’s] review of the medical examiner documents, scene 
 photographs, district attorney and investigative documents, and testimony, it is [Dr. Wecht’s] 
 opinion, expressed with a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that Gary Van Dorn died 
 from a single penetrating gunshot wound that entered his left back/side, injured his lungs 
 and aorta, and caused internal bleeding. 

 
 After sustaining his injuries, Mr. Van Horn would have been able to walk, talk, run 

 and have purposeful movement for some time. The injuries would not have rendered him 
 instantaneously incapacitated or have caused him to immediately collapse to the ground. 
 Therefore, the decedent could have sustained the gunshot wound and ran toward Mr. 
 Richardson before collapsing.  

 
 The features of the gunshot wound and the direction the bullet travelled is most 

 consistent with the decedent being in a standing position and slightly bent over with his back 
 to direction of gunfire. The features of the gunshot wound and the direction the bullet 
 travelled are not consistent with the decedent lying face down on the ground and Mr. Smith 
 firing the gun while standing over his body.  

 
17. Both Dr. RICHARD LEO and Dr. BRIAN CUTLER agreed that Trent 

Richardson’s testimony was subject to an “increased risk of his giving a false statement in order to 

escape the deprivation and isolation” and also to “obtain the highly desired outcome of having the 

	
8 There is no record of this – Richardson’s perjury file is “lost”.  
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perjury charges and the associated seven-year sentence dropped.” See quote from Exhibit E; see also 

Exhibit D. Dr. LEO provided a detailed and startingly assessment:  

 According to Trent Richardson, the Kings County District Attorney’s Office literally 
 kidnapped him from the judge’s chambers during the Kevin Smith trial. During this time, 
 according to Mr. Richardson, the Kings County District Attorney’s Office lied to him, as 
 well as to the judge, defense attorneys and family members. The Kings County District 
 Attorney’s Office then charged Mr. Richardson with perjury in the first degree, and 
 subsequently kept him  hidden and locked up in a cold and damp police precinct cell for 
 four days without allowing him to contact an attorney or family members, without 
 providing him with hot food, and without allowing him to make a phone call, bathe or 
 change his clothes. The Kings County District Attorney’s Office offered to drop perjury 
 charges if Mr. Richardson agreed to testify against Kevin Smith at his trial, even though 
 Mr. Richardson had previously stated that he did not witness Kevin Smith shoot Gary 
 Van Dorn nor did he witness the crime, and that his grand jury testimony used to indict 
 Kevin Smith had been false. After four days of this treatment, Mr. Richardson agreed to 
 testify against Kevin Smith, and was the only witness against Mr. Smith, who was 
 ultimately convicted of murder. 
 
 The conditions of Mr. Richardson’s confinement and interrogation were highly coercive 
 and involved the use of two sets of situational risk factors for interrogation-induced false 
 statements, admissions and/or confessions according to the psychological science. 
 
 1) Lengthy Interrogation. Lengthy interrogation/custody is a situational risk factors for 
 making or agreeing to a false statements, admissions and/or confessions during police 
 interrogation. Empirical studies indicate that the overwhelming majority of routine 
 custodial interrogations last less than one hour,28 whereas the combined time period of 
 custody and interrogation in most interrogations leading to a false confession is more 
 than six hours. The Reid and Associates police interrogation training manual specifically 
 recommends that police interrogate for no longer than four (4) hours absent “exceptional 
 situations” and that “most cases require considerably fewer than four hours.” Lengthy 
 detention and interrogation is a significant risk factor for false statements, admissions 
 and/or confessions because the longer an interrogation lasts, the more likely the suspect is 
 to become fatigued and depleted of the physical and psychological resources necessary to 
 resist the pressures and stresses of accusatory interrogation,  especially where  investigators 
 use physically or psychologically coercive methods. It can also lead to sleep deprivation, 
 which, as mentioned earlier, heightens interrogative suggestibility by impairing decision-
 making abilities, such as the ability to anticipate risks and consequences, inhibit behavioral 
 impulses and resist suggestive questioning. The longer an interrogation lasts, the more 
 pressure investigators bring to bear on the suspect and the more techniques and strategies 
 they may use to move the suspect from denial to admission. Researchers consider the 
 length of an interrogation to include both the time that a suspect is being questioned  and/or 
 accused as well as any breaks between  questioning/accusation sessions because breaks 
 between accusation and questioning add to the stress and fatigue of the interrogation and 
 sometimes is used as an interrogation  technique itself. Mr. Richardson was isolated, held in  
 custody, and interrogated for an extraordinarily long period of time (4 days) before 
 changing his account to fit the Kings County District Attorney’s Office’s demands. 
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 2) Explicit Threats and Promises. Mr. Richardson was threatened with a 7 year prison 
 sentence for perjury if he did not cooperate with the prosecution and testify against Kevin 
 Smith, but promised with leniency if he recanted his account he had not seen Kevin Smith 
 shoot Gary Van Dorn nor did he witness the crime nor did he know who killed Gary Van 
 Dorn. Mr. Richardson understood that if he changed his account in response to the Kings 
 County District Attorney’s Office’s threats, he would receive leniency and freedom. Once 
 Mr. Richardson yielded to the coercion, the Kings County District Attorney’s Office 
 dropped charges against him, and Mr. Richardson was released. 
  
 As discussed earlier, the use of explicit promises of leniency, immunity and/or a tangible 
 benefit, as well as the use of explicit threats of harm, significantly increases the risk of 
 eliciting an involuntary false statement, admission, and/or confession when applied to the 
 innocent. Indeed, as empirical social science research has repeatedly demonstrated, 
 promises of leniency— like threats of harm or harsher punishment and whether explicit 
 or implicit—are widely associated with police-induced false confession in the modern era 
 and are believed to be among the leading causes. Promises and threats (whether implied 
 or express) are inherently coercive because they exert substantial pressure on a suspect to 
 comply and thus can easily overbear the will or ability of a suspect to resist an 
 interrogator’s demands or requests. Like other high-end inducements, promises and  threats 
 contribute to creating a sense of despair and hopelessness about a suspect’s perceptions of 
 his available options during interrogation. This may be especially the case when one is not 
 merely being promised leniency, but being promised complete freedom (i.e., immunity) in 
 exchange for making a statement while being threatened with a harsh  outcome if one 
 refuses. There may be no psychological interrogation technique more potent than the use of 
 threats and promises. As discussed earlier, it is well-established that psychologically coercive 
 interrogation techniques increase the risk of eliciting false and/or involuntary incriminating 
 statements, admissions and/or confessions. 
 

18. ELPIDIO DELEON spoke to Richardson. Much like the assigned prosecutor in 

this case, who stated that Richardson was a “truly contemptible person”, Mr. DELEON gave little 

to no weight to Richardson’s antics. However, Richardson can be shown to consistently maintain 

that he was held against his will by the DA’s Office. He made this abundantly clear to Mr. 

DELEON during their conversations on October 24, 2017 and November 3, 2017 (See Exhibit 

H):9  

 Mr. Richardson informed me that the police and District Attorney’s Office 
 violated his rights due to his involvement as a witness in Mr. Smith’s case in 1987.   

 Mr. Richardson indicated to me that the People did things to him, and he was 
 forced  to testify against Mr. Smith.  

	
9 It should be noted that Mr. DeLeon is a highly experienced investigator who was a First Grade Homicide 
Detective in the 30th Precinct. His resume is attached as Exhibit M. 
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 Mr. Richardson indicated that he was forced to testify to the story that the District 
 Attorney’s Office gave him.  He believed that if he did not testify to what the District 
 Attorney’s Office wanted him to testify to, he would have not been released from jail. 

 Mr. Richardson indicated to me that he would be willing to change his 
 statements if Mr. Smith would be willing to “help” him out.  Richardson continually 
 mentioned that Mr. Smith has a large potential civil settlement based upon Mr. Smith’s 
 conviction.   

 On November 3, 2017, when I spoke with Mr. Richardson, he appeared under 
 the influence of a controlled substance. 
  Overall, my assessment of Mr. Richardson is that he is wholly unreliable and  is 
 willing  to say anything to please the person that he is speaking with. 
 

19. RONALD MOORE AND KEVIN BAZEMORE both witnessed the shooting 

and did not see Kevin Smith at the scene. In fact, unlike Richardson, both Moore and Bazemore 

describe the way Van Dorn was actually shot in the back, standing up, which was confirmed by 

famed forensic pathologist Dr. Cyril Wecht’s expert report. See Exhibits B, F & G.  

 20. NORMAN RICHARDSON and FREDERICK SHAW have both provided 

sworn statements indicating that Trent Richardson did not see the shooting or who did it. See 

Exhibits I & J. Shaw was actually present at the shooting and began running when shots were fired. 

He spoke to Richardson right after the shooting, who told Shaw that he did not know who was 

responsible for it. This is the same thing that he initially told the police. See Exhibits A & I. Norman 

Richardson also spoke to Richardson (his cousin), who told him that he did not actually witness the 

shooting and was being threatened by detectives to say that he did see it.10 

 21. Finally, this case suffers from the infamous Detective Louis Scarcella. See Exhibit N 

– documents indicating Detective Louis Scarcella’s involvement. Richardson, both in his trial 

testimony, statements to DeLeon and his cousin, Norman, detailed his harassment and coercion by 

law enforcement. Scarcella was intimately involved in this case, having taken a statement from Kevin 

	
10 Norman Richardson also provided insight as to what Richardson was told in furtherance of the kidnapping. 
Specifically, Norman stated that Trent was told by detectives that, if he did not testify, Trent’s family would be 
killed by the defendants.  
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Smith’s co-defendant, Calvin Lee. As such, Vernon Richardson’s allegations of being coerced by law 

enforcement should not be taken lightly. Fernandez v. Capra, 916 F.3d 215, 229-230 (2d Cir. 2019) 

 22. Kevin Smith did not kill Gary Van Dorn. Trent Vernon Richardson witnessed 

neither who shot Van Dorn nor how he was shot. Plainly, Richardson did not witness the shooting. 

His coerced trial testimony was false and is belied by other witnesses, as well as the forensic 

evidence that has been developed since trial. As such, this Court should vacate Kevin Smith’s 

conviction and either dismiss the indictment or order a new trial. At the very least, the Court should 

schedule a hearing to determine the merits.  

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 
 

THE PROSECUTION CASE 

 23. Mr. Van Dorn was killed by a bullet wound to his back that perforated his lungs and 

aorta. Mr. Van Dorn along with his two friends Vernon “Trent” Richardson and Frederick “Jaboo” 

Shaw had been on their way to a liquor store when the two supposedly encountered Kevin Smith and 

Calvin Lee. An altercation allegedly ensued over a dispute. TT 141-142. The prosecution’s theory was 

that Shaw owed at least one of the men money. The altercation lasted about five minutes. Supposedly 

Smith and Lee then ran off only to return about 10 to 15 minutes later with a gun. 

 24. When Smith and Lee allegedly returned, Van Dorn attempted to flee but slipped and 

fell. Although Lee had fired the gun several times, he reportedly did not hit anyone. Lee then 

supposedly passed the gun to Mr. Smith. Smith stood over Van Dorn, who was still on the ground 

after falling, and shot him. TT 143-148 (The Court should go to page 148 and 225-229 to review how 

exactly Mr. Richardson stated that Mr. Smith shot Mr. Van Dorn).  

 25. When Richardson heard the shots, he hid behind a car. After Van Dorn was shot, 

Richardson supposedly chased the two perpetrators. See TT 296-297. Unable to catch them, 
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Richardson then returned to the victim, placed him in a car, and helped drive him to St. Mary’s 

Hospital.11 

THE INITIAL POLICE INVESTIGATION 

 26.  Smith did not know Richardson. However, Richardson claimed that he knew Smith 

and Lee for about two to three months from the neighborhood. While Richardson knew Smith and 

Lee, during his initial police interview on the day of the murder, Richardson did not provide the names 

of either Kevin Smith or Calvin Lee. See Exhibit A. A few days after the murder, after supposedly 

receiving an anonymous tip, detectives brought a photo array to Richardson’s house that included 

photographs of both Smith and Lee. It was only then that Richardson identified both men. 

 27. The police issued an APB for Smith and Lee as the potential culprits. Smith and Lee 

were arrested 18 months after the murder.   

 28. Detective Louis Scarcella took a statement from Calvin Lee wherein Lee implicated 

Smith. See Exhibit N.  

THE TRIAL OF MR. SMITH 

 29. There was no forensic evidence that connected Mr. Smith to the murder. The only 

witness that connected either Smith or Lee to the murder was Trent Richardson.  

 30. After the jury was selected, during a hearing outside the presence of the jury, Mr. 

Richardson told the Judge under oath that he did not witness the shooting and, therefore, could not 

identify Mr. Smith or Mr. Lee at the scene of the murder: (See TT – 63-74a)12 

  Q: Now, do you also know two people by the name of Renny and Devine? 

	
11 The entirety of the People’s theory emulates from Richardson.  
 
12 Significantly, in what was said to be a Sirois hearing, 38 questions were asked about whether Richardson actually 
witnessed the events of November 10, 1984, and only 15 questions were asked about whether there were any 
threats made upon Richardson. Not surprisingly, the People failed to establish that any threats were made to 
Richardson.  
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  A: I don’t know them. 

  Q: You don’t know them? 

  A: No. 

  Q: Never heard of them?  

  A: I heard of the name. 

  Q: Did you see them on the night of November 10th of 1984? 

  A: No. 

  Q: Were you present when Gary was shot? 

  A: No. 

  Q: You were not? 

  A: No. 

    … 

  Q: Did you see Gary get shot? 

  A: No.  

    … 

  The Court: Do you remember somebody shooting at you? 

  Witness: No, nobody shooting at me. 

  The Court: Nobody ever shot at you? 

  Witness: No. 

(This is despite the fact that there was a count of attempted murder against 

Richardson) 

    … 

  The Court: A block away. And what did you do? You heard the shooting? 

  Witness: Yes. 
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  The Court: What did you see? 

  Witness: Nobody, just him lying there and people around him. 

  The Court: Was Smith and Lee or Divine as he’s known – what’s the other name, 
 Renny, did you see them in the crowd?  
 
  Witness: No. 

  The Court: Do you know them if you see them? 

  Witness: Yeah, know them from before in the street. 

    …. 

  The Court: So you went with Van Dorn to the hospital because he’s your wife’s cousin? 

  Witness: Yes. 

    … 

  The Court: And that you were going to testify at this trial?  

  Witness: No, I told them I didn’t want to testify. 

  The Court: Why? 

  Witness: I don’t know nothing 

    … 

  The Court: You didn’t see who shot Mr. Van Dorn. Is that what you’re telling me  
 now? 
 
  Witness: Yes. 

  The Court: And that you won’t testify. 

  Witness: No.  

    … 

  The Court: As I said, Mr. Richardson, if you didn’t see anything on that night and you 
didn’t see anything happen to Mr. Van Dorn – you see all I expect of you, if you testify in my court, 
that you tell me the truth. What you said anyplace else or some other time, I’m not concerned with. I 
am interested in the truth today. 
  Do you understand what I’m saying?  
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  Witness: Yes 

  (TT – 70 regarding last excerpt) 

 31. On September 4, 1987 after Mr. Richardson gave this sworn testimony exonerating 

Mr. Smith, the trial Judge, Hon. Francis X. Egitto released Mr. Smith on his own recognizance. He 

also instructed the People to be ready to try the case on September 8, 1987.  

 32. However, upon leaving the Judge’s chamber, Mr. Richardson was immediately arrested 

on the criminal felony complaint of the prosecutor’s office for perjury. TT 315. Mr. Richardson was 

then jailed and held without bail. Mr. Richardson was not arraigned for 4 days until September 8, 1987, 

the morning of the rescheduled trial. During that time, Mr. Richardson was held in an 81st Precinct 

holding cell. In addition to being denied hot meals, he was never supplied with basic hygiene 

necessities such as a shower, a change of clothes, and a toothbrush. He was also not permitted to 

make a phone call or speak with his family or an attorney. TT 244-250, 283-284, 317. Richardson was 

then told by the trial prosecutor that if he recanted his sworn in-camera testimony to Judge Egitto, 

the perjury charge would be dropped. TT 209-217, 238-254, 284-285. Additionally, the prosecutor 

promised to relocate his mother into new housing due to her allegation that she had been threatened. 

There was no evidence that such a threat had been made. Even if she had been threatened, there was 

no evidence implicating that the supposed threat was in any way connected to either of the 

defendants.13  

APPEALS AND POST CONVICTION PROCEEDINGS 

 33. In Mr. Smith’s direct appeal, he alleged that  (1) his conviction had been obtained by 

duress because the main eyewitness had been incarcerated on perjury charges prior to his testimony; 

(2) there were several instances of juror misconduct during voir dire warranted reversal;  and (3) the 

	
13 Specifically, the only thing that Trent Vernon Richardson stated that he was afraid of in this case was the 7 
years that he was facing by way of the perjury charges that the People charged him with on September 4, 1987. See 
TT 284. 
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trial court abused its discretion in discharging two sworn jurors who were considered by the court to 

be unavailable for continued service. On December 24, 1990, Mr. Smith’s conviction was affirmed. 

See People v. Smith, 168 A.D.2d 653 (2d Dep’t 1990). His leave to appeal was likewise denied by the 

Court of Appeals. People v. Smith 77 N.Y.2d 967 (1991).  

 34. On three separate occasions Mr. Smith filed coram nobis applications which were 

denied.  

 35. Mr. Smith filed a 440 motion on August 4, 1992. He claimed that (1) he had received 

ineffective assistance of trial counsel when they did not call Frederick Shaw as a witness; (2) he had 

newly discovered evidence in the form of an exculpatory witness, Ronald Moore; and (3) the 

judgment was obtained in violation of his right to be present at a material stage of trial. On February 

17, 1993, the Supreme Court denied his motion, and on May 19, 1993, the Appellate Division denied 

petitioner's application for leave to appeal. 

 36.  Mr. Smith’s petition for habeas corpus relief was also denied on the grounds of 

timeliness. Smith v. McGinnis, 49 F. Supp. 2d 102 (E.D.N.Y. 1999).  

NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE SECURED AFTER CONVICTION 

37. Mr. Smith has secured affidavits from several people familiar with or present at the 

time of the murder. They all attest that Mr. Smith did not commit the murder.  Furthermore, he has 

procured three expert reports, all of which reject Trent Vernon Richardson’s testimony at trial. Mr. 

Smith has received the transcript of Richardson’s audio statement, which was not turned over at trial. 

See Exhibit K; see also Exhibit L (an affidavit from Joseph Gianni). Finally, the revelations that Louis 

Scarcella has tainted the investigations of, at the very least, 15 convictions is a new and developing 

body of case law. See generally People v. Hargrove, 75 N.Y.S.3d 551 (2d Dep’t 2018). 

DR. CYRIL H. WECHT 
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38. Dr. Wecht soundly refuted Richardson’s version of the shooting, stating that Gary 

Van Dorn was “in a standing position and slightly bent over with his back to direction of gunfire. The 

features of the gunshot wound and the direction the bullet travelled are not consistent with the 

decedent lying face down on the ground and Mr. Smith firing the gun while standing over his body”. 

This is exactly what Mr. Richardson testified to at trial. See Exhibit B. Dr. Wecht’s account both 

corroborates the sworn statements of Ronald Moore and Kevin Bazemore and verifies Shaw’s and 

Norman Richardson’s affidavits stating that Trent Richardson saw neither how nor by whom Gary 

Van Dorn was shot and killed. 

DR. RICHARD LEO AND DR. BRIAN CUTLER 

39. Both Dr. Leo and Cutler have provided expert reports finding that “[t]he conditions 

of Mr. Richardson’s confinement and interrogation were highly coercive and involved the use of two 

sets of situational risk factors [known to produce] interrogation-induced false statements, admissions 

and/or confessions according to the psychological science.” See Exhibit D & E. 

ELPIDIO DELEON 

40. DeLeon is a licensed private investigator who worked on an array of crimes as a 

detective with the NYPD for 15 years. See Exhibit M – DeLeon resume. However, Mr. DeLeon has 

since ended his career as a first-grade detective and the homicide coordinator for the 30th Precinct. 

DeLeon spoke to Richardson on two occasions during which Richardson informed him that the police 

and District Attorney’s office violated his rights and “did things to him” in order to get him to testify 

against Smith. Furthermore, he told DeLeon that he was forced to testify to the story that the DA’s 

Office provided. See Exhibit H. DeLeon, a professional who has interviewed countless witnesses, 

found Richardson to be wholly incredible. 

RONALD MOORE 
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41. In a sworn affidavit Mr. Moore admitted that he was at the scene of the murder, where 

he saw that the perpetrator was a light skinned black male. He also said that he knows Kevin Smith 

and did not see him at the scene of the crime. He also did not see him firing a gun at Van Dorn.  

42. At the time the trial occurred, Mr. Moore was not aware that Kevin Smith had been 

tried and convicted for murder. See Exhibit G.  

KEVIN BAZEMORE 

43. Mr. Bazemore was standing on Bergen Street in Brooklyn at the time of the murder. 

Mr. Bazemore witnessed the shooting. Mr. Bazemore swears that the person who shot Gary Van Dorn 

was neither Kevin Smith nor his co-defendant Calvin Lee. See Exhibit F.  

FREDERICK SHAW 

44. Mr. Shaw swears that on the night of the murder, he heard the shots, but did not see 

who fired the gun. After hearing the gun, Mr. Shaw ran to the home of Trent Richardson, which was 

nearby. Later that evening, Trent Richardson came to the house and said that Gary Van Dorn had 

been shot. Mr. Richardson told Mr. Shaw that he didn’t know who fired the gun, either. See Exhibit 

I. 

45. Mr. Shaw has sworn in an affidavit that the police harassed him and Mr. Richardson, 

coercing them into making false statements implicating Smith. In fact, during the trial, Mr. Shaw did 

not succumb to the pressure, rather refusing to testify to something that was not true. See Exhibit I.  

NORMAN RICHARDSON 

46. Norman Richardson, in a sworn affidavit attest to the fact that Vernon Trent Richardson 

is his cousin, said that Vernon had confided in him multiple times regarding details pertinent to the 

Kevin Smith and Calvin Lee case. According to Norman, Vernon was told by detectives that Smith 
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and Lee were the people who shot Van Dorn. He was persuaded by these same detectives into making 

a false identification of Smith and Lee.14 See Exhibit J.  

47. Detectives also told Vernon Richardson that he had to send Smith and Lee to jail or 

else they would kill him and his family when they were let go. See Exhibit J.   

 FRANK PAONE 

 48. Mr. Paone has provided an affidavit swearing to the fact that he was appointed to 

represent Mr. Richardson on September 4, 1987. He was never advised that Richardson would be 

arrested for perjury. Furthermore, he would have advised the District Attorney’s office and police 

NOT to speak with Richardson. However, they did so immediately after his arrest without Mr. 

Paone’s presence. This was in direct contravention of the Court’s directives during the hearing. See 

Exhibit K.  

 JOSEPH GIANNI’S AFFIDAVIT AND RICHARDSON’S AUDIOTAPE 

TRANSCRIPT 

 49. For the first time ever, Mr. Smith is in possession of the audiotaped transcript of 

Richardson’s statements to the DA’s Office. See Exhibit C and Exhibit O – affidavit from attorney 

Joseph Gianni. Attorney Joseph Gianni provided a sworn statement confirming that Smith never 

received this vital piece of evidence that was, at the very least, Rosario material. See Exhibit O. In 

the transcript, Richardson provides an account that varied from his trial testimony and could have 

easily been used to impeach him. See Exhibit O.  

 NEW EVIDENCE OF LOUIS SCARCELLA’S MALFEASANCE 

50. Over the past two years, significant evidence of misconduct by former Detective Louis 

Scarcella has been revealed by defendants, the press, and by the Brooklyn District Attorney’s Office. 

Scarcella’s misconduct in other cases includes, but is not limited to, fabricating statements by suspects 

	
14 Interestingly, we know that Scarcella took a statement from Lee. He was entirely involved in this investigation.  
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and witnesses, destroying notes, and improperly conducting identification procedures. See generally 

People v. Hargrove, 75 N.Y.S.3d 551 (2d Dep’t 2018); People v. Deleon, Ind. # 8153/1995 (Kings 

County November 19, 2019); People v. Moses, 2018 N.Y. Misc. LEXIS 701 (Kings County Jan. 11, 

2018) 

Shabaka Shakur 

51. On May 29, 2015, the Honorable Desmond A. Green vacated the conviction of Shabaka 

Shakur based in part on newly discovered evidence of Scarcella’s “propensity to embellish or fabricate 

statements.” Decision and Order, May 29, 2015, at 45-46;  Shakur had alleged that Detective Louis 

Scarcella fabricated an incriminating statement attributed to Shakur and that that statement caused his 

wrongful conviction. The Court held as follows: “The totality of circumstances, regarding the ‘orphan’ 

statement and the statement in the Scarcella DD5, provide this court with, a reasonable probability 

that the alleged confession of defendant was indeed fabricated.” Id. at 46. On June 4, 2015, having 

determined that it could not re-try Mr. Shakur and would not appeal the Court’s decision, the Kings 

County District Attorney’s Office moved to dismiss Mr. Shakur’s indictment. Decision and Order, 

June 4, 2015. Mr. Shakur was released from prison on June 8, 2015. 

Rosean Hargrave and John Bunn 

52. On April 14, 2015, the Honorable ShawnDya L. Simpson vacated the conviction of 

Rosean Hargrave on the ground that the “new evidence of Detective Scarcella’s maleficence requires 

a new trial.” Decision and Order, April 14, 2015, at Justice Simpson made the following findings 

related to Scarcella: 

The findings of this court are that the assigned Detective, Louis Scarcella, was at the time of 
the investigation engaged in false and misleading practices. The cases of David Ranta, Derrick 
Hamilton, Robert Hill, Alvena Jennette and Darryl Austin that were investigated by Scarcella and 
prosecuted contemporaneously with this case in the early nineties demonstrate this pattern and 
practice. The pattern and practice of Scarcella’s conduct which manifest a disregard for rules, law and 
the truth undermines our judicial system and gives cause for a new review of the evidence. Scarcella 
has been regarded as a legend in the N.Y.P .D. for his number of homicide arrest. [sic]. There is a 
saying, when it is too good to be true, it usually is. Id at 15-16. 
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David Ranta 
 

 53. The former Brooklyn District Attorney, Charles Hynes, has admitted that his office 

chose to overturn the conviction of David Ranta based in part on the conduct of Scarcella. In a 2013 

letter to Dorothy Samuels of the New York Times, in which Hynes sought the Times’ endorsement of 

his campaign, Hynes wrote as follows: During the course of the Ranta investigation, CIU Chief John 

O’Mara uncovered some questionable conduct by former NYPD Detective Scarcella. In announcing 

our decision to release Mr. Ranta, we made it clear that the decision was made in part because 

of the conduct of Detective Scarcella. As a result of that announcement, we received numerous 

referrals from Defense Attorneys complaining about Detective Scarcella. Thereafter, I announced that 

our CIU would undertake a review of these and other Scarcella related cases. 

  54. In the case of David Ranta, Ranta accused Scarcella of completely fabricating the 

statement attributed to him: 

During a recent interview with the CIU, the defendant, in the presence of his counsel, denied that he 
ever made a statement minimizing his responsibility, and instead insisted that he had never made any 
admission whatsoever. 
 
  55. Also in Ranta’s case, Scarcella failed to document critical portions of his investigation.  

Specifically, Scarcella failed to memorialize the meetings he had with one of the key witnesses in the 

case, Alan Bloom. Id. In addition, Scarcella failed to document his investigation of Joseph Astin, 

whom the District Attorney’s Office believes could be the actual perpetrator of the crime. Id. 

 Derrick Hamilton, Robert Hill and DOE Investigation 

56. Scarcella’s fabrication of evidence was not limited to the fabrication of suspects’ 

statements. Scarcella has also been accused of fabricating statements of witnesses. In the cases of 

People v. Derrick Hamilton, Ind. No. 142/91, and People v. Robert Hill, Ind. No. 2304/87, and in a 

botched investigation he conducted while employed by NYC Department of Education, Scarcella 
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followed this same pattern. The convictions of both Derrick Hamilton and Robert Hill were vacated 

within the past 5 years. 

57. Jewel Smith, a witness in the case of People v. Derrick Hamilton, claimed that Scarcella 

forced her to fabricate a statement implicating Derrick Hamilton in the murder of Nathaniel Cash. In 

Jewel Smith’s Letter to Gov. Elliot Spitzer, Sept. 7, 2007, she explained how she came to fabricate a 

statement implicating Derrick Hamilton in the murder states: 

Once I was at the precinct [sic], Detective Scarcella informed me that Derrick “Bush” Hamilton shot 
Nathaniel Cash. And if I wanted to leave the precinct and go home. I had to identify Derrick as the 
person that committed the crime. The scenario was explained to me in detail by detective Scarcella. I 
followed his script and true to his word I was released. Id at 2. 
 

58. In the case of People v. Robert Hill, Scarcella fabricated the evidence that led to Hill’s 

wrongful conviction.  Hill’s conviction was vacated on May 6, 2014. The prosecution’s two main 

witnesses against Hill, Teresa Gomez and Bernadette Moore, said nothing to implicate Hill until 

Scarcella interviewed them, even though other detectives had previously interviewed them. Id. at 5-8. 

Scarcella had not been assigned to investigate the murder for which Hill was convicted – and the only 

role he played in the investigation was in obtaining the incriminating statements of Gomez and Moore. 

Id. at 5. Scarcella obtained these statements in one-on-one interviews with both Gomez and Moore. 

Id. 

59. Even after retiring from the police department and becoming an investigator for the 

NYC Department of Education, Scarcella continued to engage in the same pattern of misconduct. In 

2004, Scarcella worked for the Department of Education’s Office of Special Investigations (“OCI”). 

In 2007, the Special Commissioner of Investigation (“SCI”) reviewed an investigation conducted by 

Scarcella of potential Regents tampering at a public high school in Brooklyn. See, Report of Richard 

J. Condon, June 26, 2007. The SCI came to the following conclusions about Scarcella’s investigation: 

The SCI review has concluded that the OSI investigation was flawed from its inception. The 
investigator was unsupervised and acted as an agent of a complainant. In reality, no witness provided 
credible evidence to support the accusations concerning Capra and George. 
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60. The Report added: 

In his Cobble Hill investigation, Scarcella made a number of investigative missteps. Scarcella did not 
question Nobile’s credibility and was biased from the onset. In the end, Scarcella based his findings 
on Nobile’s predetermined conclusions rather than the evidence. Id at 61. 
 

61. As part of his investigation, Scarcella interviewed Elliot Cohen, who was a teacher at 

the school in question. See, id. at 19-21. In an interview with SCI, Cohen described what occurred 

during Scarcella’s interview of him: Cohen described his experience at OSI as being “coerced, bullied,” 

and “threatened” by Scarcella…Cohen reported that, when he denied the cheating allegations, 

“[Scarcella] was not pleased.” Scarcella went on a “horrible” tirade of repeatedly slamming on the 

table, standing up, going over to Cohen, and threatening him. When Cohen denied the allegations, 

Scarcella would respond: “Don’t go there.” 

62. Id. at 19-20. Cohen explained what happened next: 

Cohen and Scarcella repeatedly disagreed about what was standard procedure and what was 
cheating…Cohen said: “How many times am I going to argue back and forth with Mr. Scarcella when 
he’s slamming on the table telling me ‘No! That’s cheating, that’s cheating, that’s cheating!?’” Cohen 
added that there was “no winning with Mr. Scarcella,” he “succumbed to [Scarcella’s] pressure” and 
admitted cheating. However, he testified that, in reality, he had not done so. Cohen reported that 
Scarcella “coerced, bullied, and threatened [him] into believing that [he] had done something wrong.” 
Cohen asserted that he “would have told Mr. Scarcella anything to get out of the room and be away 
from his threats. 
 
Id. at 20. 

 63. In the OCI investigation, Scarcella follows his same pattern of coming to a 

premature conclusion about guilt, and then committing whatever misconduct necessary in order to 

get the testimony he wanted to hear – whether or not it was truthful. 

DISCUSSION 

64.   CPL § 440.10 provides that: 

1. At any time after the entry of a judgment, the court in which entered may, upon motion of the 
defendant, vacate such judgment upon the ground that… (b) The judgment was procured by duress, 
misrepresentation or fraud on the part of the court or a prosecutor or a person acting for or in 
behalf of a court or a prosecutor; or (c) Material evidence adduced at a trial resulting in the judgment 
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was false and was, prior to the entry of the judgment, known by the prosecutor or by the court to be 
false; or (d)  Material evidence adduced by the people at a trial resulting in the judgment was 
procured in violation of the defendant’s rights under the constitution of this state or of the United 
States; or…  (f)  Improper and prejudicial conduct not appearing in the record occurred during a 
trial resulting in the judgment which conduct, if it had appeared in the record, would have required a 
reversal of the judgment upon an appeal therefrom; (g) New evidence has been discovered since the 
entry of a judgment based upon a verdict of guilty after trial, which could not have been produced 
by the defendant at the trial even with due diligence on his part and which is of such character as to 
create a probability that had such evidence been received at the trial the verdict would have been 
more favorable to the defendant; provided that a motion based upon such ground must be made 
with due diligence after the discovery of such alleged new evidence; or (h) The judgment was 
obtained in violation of a right of the defendant under the constitution of this state or of the United 
States…” 
 

65. The Court should be aware of the overriding theme in this case. Vernon Trent 

Richardson was dragged from his home to testify. During his first chance to testify before this Court, 

he exonerated Kevin Smith. He was then kidnapped and deprived of basic human rights in a small 

cell in the 81st Precinct until he was willing to testify to the facts that the People deemed “true”. After 

essentially being tortured for 4 days, he was a broken man. By the time that the trial was set to start, 

Richardson, the sole witness against Smith, was willing to say anything to be a free man. 

66. Due process is violated in a criminal trial is whenever a witness of the State supplies 

false testimony on a topic that materially prejudices the rights of the accused.  See generally Kyles v. 

Whitley, 514 U.S. 419 (1995). 

 67. False testimony “is a surprisingly common feature” of the underlying trials that lead 

to false convictions. Samuel R. Gross, et, al., Exonerations in the United States: 1989 through 2003, 

95 J. Crim. L. and Criminology 523, 543 (2005) (Discussing false testimony using the term “perjury”).   

 68. A study of 350 erroneous convictions in “potentially capital cases” revealed that there 

was “perjury” by prosecution witnesses in approximately one-third of the cases.  See Hugo Adam 

Bedau and Michael L. Raddet, Miscarriages of Justice in Potentially Capital Cases, 40 Standford L. 

Rev. 21, 60 (1987).  
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 69. Indeed, false testimony by prosecution witnesses was “twice as frequent a cause of 

error as the next most important factors.” Id. at 61. N. 184.  A study of exonerations illustrates that 

through the present, this continues to be the case.  See e.g., Gross et al., 95 J. Crim. L. and Criminology 

at 544 (Noting that in 43% of the 340 exonerations studied, “at least one sort of perjury” was 

reported).  

 70. Obviously, Richardson was the entire case. Now, with 8 witnesses detailing either 

Smith’s innocence and/or Richardson’s unreliability and clear-cut evidence that infamous detective, 

Louis Scarcella, was intimately involved with the case, this Court should either dismiss this case or 

order a new trial so the jury can hear the entire story.  

POINT I 

THE VAN DORN MURDER CHARGES SHOULD BE 
DISMISSED ON THE GROUND OF ACTUAL INNOCENCE 

 
71. Kevin Smith contends that the proof of his actual innocence, embodied in the 

affidavits, sworn statements and expert reports annexed hereto, entitles him to dismiss all charges 

related to the VAN DORN murder.  

72. Until recently, it was an open question whether a “free-standing actual innocence 

claim” i.e., a claim based on evidence of innocence outside the trial record, unaccompanied by any 

other constitutional violation or newly discovered evidence claim – was cognizable in New York.  On 

January 15, 2014, however, the Second Department in People v. Hamilton, 979 N.Y.S.2d 97 (2d Dep’t 

2014), answered that question in the affirmative.  It is thus now beyond dispute that “a defendant who 

establishes his or her actual innocence by clear and convincing evidence is entitled to relief under [CPL 

§ 440.10].”  Id. at 100. 

73. The defendant in Hamilton was convicted of second-degree murder based on the 

testimony of a single alleged eyewitness, Jewel Smith, who recanted after trial.  He named two 

witnesses in a pretrial alibi notice but was unable to call them.  While his direct appeal was pending, 
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he filed a CPL § 440.10 motion offering the testimony of other alibi witnesses, but the motion court 

declined to hear them because they had not been included in the pretrial notice.  Subsequently, after 

the Supreme Court’s decision in In re Davis, 130 S. Ct. 1 (2009), he again moved under CPL § 440.10 

seeking relief on the ground that the affidavits of these and other witnesses supported a claim of actual 

innocence.  See Hamilton, 979 N.Y.S.2d at 100-02. 

74. The Second Department found that the affidavits in question were not newly 

discovered evidence.  See id. at 103.  Nevertheless, it found that Hamilton was entitled to present a 

free-standing actual innocence claim.  See id. at 103-08. 

75. As a threshold matter, the court found that there was no mandatory procedural bar 

because “[t]he defendant did not raise a claim of actual innocence on his appeal from the judgment of 

conviction, and the facts underlying his current claims did not appear in the record on direct appeal.”  

Id. at 104.  Moreover, although his prior CPL § 440.10 motion did give rise to a permissive procedural 

bar, such bar is discretionary and “there is no reason why the courts may not consider a credible claim 

of actual innocence in the exercise of discretion.”  Id. 

76. Turning to the merits, the Hamilton court found that “[a] freestanding claim of actual 

innocence is rooted in several different concepts, including the constitutional rights to substantive and 

procedural due process, and the constitutional right not to be subjected to cruel and unusual 

punishment.”  Id.  The court noted that Federal authorities were split as to whether such a claim 

existed and that a number of sister states had recognized such claims either by statute or case law.  Id. 

at 104-06.   

77. The court determined that free-standing actual innocence claims should indeed be 

recognized in New York, as “it is abhorrent to our sense of justice and fair play to countenance the 

possibility that someone innocent of a crime may be incarcerated or otherwise punished for a crime 

which he or she did not commit.”  Id. at 107, citing People v. Tankleff, 49 A.D.3d 160, 177 (2d Dept. 
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2007).  It stated further that the New York State Due Process Clause provided greater protection than 

its federal counterpart, and that “[s]ince a person who has not committed any crime has a liberty 

interest in remaining free from punishment, the conviction or incarceration of a guiltless person, which 

deprives that person of freedom of movement and freedom from punishment and violates elementary 

fairness, runs afoul of the Due Process Clause of the New York Constitution.”  Id. at 107-08.  

“Moreover, because punishing an actually innocent person is inherently disproportionate to the acts 

committed by that person, such punishment also violates the provision of the New York Constitution 

which prohibits cruel and unusual punishments.”  Id. at 108. 

78. The court went on to consider the burden of proof and found that the defendant was 

responsible for proving his innocence by clear and convincing evidence.  Id.  “A prima-facie showing 

of actual innocence,” warranting an evidentiary hearing, “is made out when there is a sufficient 

showing of possible merit to warrant a fuller exploration by the court.”  Id.  The court then found 

that Hamilton had made such a showing due to, inter alia, “evidence of a credible alibi.”  Id. at 109. 

79. Finally, the Hamilton court made two important procedural rulings.  First, it stated 

that “[a]t the hearing, all reliable evidence, including evidence not admissible at trial based upon a procedural 

bar—such as the failure to name certain alibi witnesses in the alibi notice—should be admitted.”  Id. 

(emphasis added); see also Davis, 130 S. Ct. at 1 (finding that defendant was entitled to a hearing, even 

though the state courts had previously rejected his witnesses’ affidavits on procedural grounds, where 

"no court, state or federal, has ever conducted a hearing to assess the reliability of the score of post-

conviction affidavits that, if reliable, would satisfy the threshold showing for a truly persuasive 

demonstration of actual innocence").    

80. Furthermore, if a defendant proves his innocence by clear and convincing evidence, 

“the indictment should be dismissed pursuant to CPL 440.10(4), which authorizes that disposition 

where appropriate. There is no need to empanel another jury to consider the defendant's guilt where 
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the trial court has determined, after a hearing, that no juror, acting reasonably, would find the 

defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.”  Hamilton, 979 N.Y.S.2d at 109.  

81. The Hamilton holding is in line with prior decisions of the New York State courts and 

the courts of other States.  Indeed, "virtually all of the [New York] trial courts to explicitly address the 

issue have concluded that [a freestanding actual innocence] claim may be raised."  People v. Days, 

2009 N.Y. Misc. LEXIS 3677, *15 (Westchester Co. Ct. 2009), citing People v Cole, 1 Misc. 3d 531 

(Sup. Ct., Nassau Co. 2003) (Leventhal, J.); People v Wheeler-Whichard, 25 Misc. 3d 690 (Sup. Ct., 

Nassau Co. 2009) (McKay, J.); People v. Bermudez, 2009 N.Y. Misc. LEXIS 3099 (Sup. Ct., N.Y. Co. 

2009).  The "ultimate objective" of the criminal justice system is "that the guilty be convicted and the 

innocent go free."  People v. Henriquez, 3 N.Y.3d 210, 228-29 (2004).   

82. The courts of numerous sister states, which the Cole decision cited with approval, 

have reached similar holdings.  See Cole, 1 Misc. 3d at 540-41, citing People v. Washington, 171 Ill. 

2d 475, 665 N.E.2d 1330, 216 Ill. Dec. 773 (Ill. 1996) (imprisonment of an innocent inmate violates 

due process under the Illinois State Constitution); Miller v. Comm'r of Correction, 242 Conn. 745, 

700 A.2d 1108 (Conn. 1997) (recognizing a freestanding claim of actual innocence, apparently by way 

of the state habeas corpus statute, which authorizes habeas courts to "dispose of the case as law and 

justice require," since "[t]he continued imprisonment of one who is actually innocent would constitute 

a miscarriage of justice"); In re Clark, 5 Cal. 4th 750, 21 Cal. Rptr. 2d 509, 855 P.2d 729 (Cal. 1993) 

(apparently relying on the court's inherent authority to correct fundamental miscarriages of justice); 

Ex parte Elizondo, 947 S.W.2d 202 (Tex. Crim. App. 1996) (which held that the imprisonment or 

incarceration of an actually innocent person violates the Due Process Clause of the Federal 

Constitution); State ex rel. Amrine v. Roper, 102 S.W.3d 541 (Mo. 2003) (which recognized a 

freestanding absolute innocence claim because Missouri habeas corpus rights are broader than Federal 
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habeas corpus rights and the imprisonment or execution of an innocent person would be a "manifest 

injustice"); accord. Montoya v. Ulibarri, 163 P.3d 476, 484 (N.M. 2007) (citing Cole). 

83. Indeed, at least one Federal court has held that a free-standing actual innocence claim 

was cognizable, although it found, after an evidentiary hearing, that the defendant had failed to sustain 

that claim.  See In re Davis, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS  87340 (S.D. Ga. 2010). 

84. Under the above authorities, it is plain that, at minimum, Kevin Smith is entitled to an 

evidentiary hearing on his claim of actual innocence. If “evidence of a credible alibi” combined with 

a witness recantation constituted “sufficient showing of possible merit to warrant a fuller exploration 

by the court” in Hamilton, then evidence of a declaration against penal interest statement15 from 

Vernon Richardson to his family member Norman Richardson, friend Frederick Shaw and 

investigator DeLeon, coupled with Moore’s and Bazemore’s exculpatory statements with Dr. Wecht’s, 

Dr. Leo’s and Dr. Cutler’s expert reports constitutes “sufficient showing of possible merit to warrant 

a fuller exploration by the court”.16 Conclusively, Dr. Wecht’s report entirely refutes Richardson’s 

testimony and corroborates Bazemore, Moore, Shaw and Norman Richardson. See Exhibit B. Dr. Leo 

and Dr. Cutler just provide further proof that Richardson was nothing more than a “loaded gun” who 

was forced to testify after being held hostage. See Exhibit D & E.  

85. Nor are these the only indications that the affidavits of Moore, DeLeon, Bazemore, 

Shaw and Norman Richardson are credible.  It is significant that Vernon Richardson’s first statement 

did not name Smith and that Richardson came before this Court under oath and admitted that he saw 

neither the shooting nor Smith at the scene. Take Richardson’s first statement to police and his 

testimony before this Court on September 4, 1987, wherein he exonerated Kevin Smith, in 

	
15 See generally People v. Settles, 46 N.Y.2d 154 (1978) 
 
16 The Court should also not forget the involvement of Louis Scarcella and the body of case law that supports the 
statements that Richardson made to Norman Richardson and DeLeon that he was threatened by a member of law 
enforcement.  
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combination with Louis Scarcella’s pattern and practice of corruption, then no reasonable juror would 

have convicted Smith with the evidence that was presented at trial.  

86. When combined, the evidence provided by the witnesses and the Vernon Trent 

Richardson admission in open court that he did not witness the crime are overwhelming. The 

witnesses provided a detailed, consistent account, guaranteeing that Mr. Smith was not present when 

Van Dorn was shot and killed. They were corroborated by the forensic account of the injuries 

sustained by Van Dorn. See Exhibit B.   

87. The witnesses’ affidavits were provided independently of each other.  The witnesses 

have no reason to falsify and came forth solely to shed light on the fact that an innocent man was 

imprisoned for murder.  

88. Accordingly, this Court should find that Kevin Smith is not guilty of the Van Dorn 

murder. Furthermore, he is entitled to a dismissal of the charges related to the killing. At minimum, 

he has proffered sufficient evidence to warrant a full evidentiary hearing.  At such a hearing, this Court 

should receive “all reliable evidence, including evidence not admissible at trial based upon a procedural 

bar—such as the failure to name certain alibi witnesses in the alibi notice,” Hamilton, 979 N.Y.S.2d 

at 108, and if it determines that defendant has proven his innocence by clear and convincing evidence, 

it should dismiss all counts of the indictment that arise from and relate to the murder. 

POINT II 

NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE REQUIRES A NEW TRIAL AS TO THE   
VAN DORM MURDER CHARGES AND RELATED WEAPON COUNTS 
 
89. Alternatively, this Court should find that the affidavits of Frederick Shaw, Norman 

Richardson, Kevin Bazemore, Ronald Moore, Elpidio DeLeon, Frank Paone, Richard Gianni, Dr. 

Richard Leo, Dr. Brian Cutler and Dr. Cyril Wecht and the involvement and history of misconduct 

by Louis Scarcella combined with the testimony of Vernon Richardson during which he admitted that 
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he never saw the Van Dorn murder constitute sufficient  newly discovered evidence.  It is well settled 

that in order to require reversal, the newly discovered evidence must fulfill the following criteria: 

(1) It must be such as will probably change the result if a new trial is granted; (2) It must have 
 been discovered since the trial; (3) It must be such as could have not been discovered before 
 the trial by the exercise of due diligence; (4) It must be material to the issue; (5) It must not be 
 cumulative to the former issue; and, (6) It must not be merely impeaching or contradicting the 
 former evidence. 

 

People v. Madison, 106 A.D.3d 1490, 1492 (4th Dept. 2013), quoting People v. Salemi, 309 
N.Y. 208, 215-16 (1955); see also People v. Tankleff, 49 A.D.3d 160, 179 (2d Dept. 2007). 

 
 90. In evaluating the factors of newly discovered evidence, Appellate Division Second 

Department ruled in Hargrove, 162 A.D.3d 25, that the courts should only construe the core elements 

of the statue as strict legal requirements. see CPL § 440.10 [1][g]; accord People v. Jones, 24 NY3d at 

637 [Abdus-Salaam, J., concurring]). In other words, a motion for a new trial based on newly 

discovered evidence should only be granted if the court finds, as a factual matter, that the movant has 

demonstrated that “(1) (n)ew evidence has been discovered since the entry of a judgment…(2) which 

could have not have been produced by the defendant at the trial even with due diligence on his part 

and (3) which  is of such character as to create a probability that had such evidence been received at 

the trial the verdict would have been more favorable to the defendant” (CPL 440.10 (1) (g)). The 

Appellate Division went on to state: “[t]he remaining three criteria should be used to evaluate the 

ultimate issue of whether the new evidence would “create a probability” of a more favorable verdict 

(CPL 440.10 (1) (g). In assessing the probable impact of the new evidence, the court should consider 

whether and to what extent the new evidence is (1) material to the pertinent issues in the case, (2) 

cumulative to evidence that was already presented to the jury, and (3) merely impeaching or 

contradicting the evidence presented at trial (accord People v. Rensing, 14 NY2d at 214, People v. 

Salemi, 309 NY at 215-216; People v. Shilitano, 218 NY at 170).” People v. Hargrove, 162 A.D.3d 25 

(2d Dept. 2018). 
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91. It should be noted that, in a newly discovered evidence claim under CPL § 

440.10(1)(g), the defendant’s burden is preponderance of the evidence – i.e., that the new evidence 

would “probably” change the result – as opposed to the clear and convincing standard that applies on 

a free-standing actual innocence claim.  See Salemi, supra; see generally CPL § 440.30(6) (“the 

defendant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence every fact essential to 

support the motion”). 

92. Taking the above elements seriatim, it is clear that the testimony from eyewitnesses and 

experts “[would] probably change the result if a new trial is granted.”  As discussed in Point I above, 

the affidavits are internally consistent, comport with the forensic evidence, and are corroborated by 

the trial record.  Furthermore, at a new trial, the jury would hear from all the witnesses that attest to 

Smith’s innocence  and are corroborated by the Dr. Wecht, a famed forensic pathologist. They would 

also learn how Vernon Trent Richardson was persuaded to “lie” at the trial and convict Smith, an 

innocent man, in the Van Dorn murder. See generally, People v. Moses, 2018 N.Y. Misc. LEXIS 701 

(Kings County Jan. 11, 2018) (The Court may consider all evidence presented collectively). 

93. All this evidence is material, and certainly not “merely impeaching”. See Madison, 106 

A.D.3d at 1493; see also People v. Lackey, 48 A.D.3d 982, 983-84 (3d Dept. 2008) (a victim’s 

confession to having filed a false complaint of a sexual assault in another case “would not merely 

impeach the victim, but might well have altered the focus of the entire case”) (emphasis added); People 

v. Gurley, 197 A.D.2d 534, 535-36 (2d Dept. 1993) (police report showing that the victim was shot by 

a different caliber bullet than was testified to at trial was not merely impeaching). Furthermore, the 

Appellate Division has held that when evidence, such as all of the affidavits and expert reports 

presented in this case, has not been heard by the jury, it is newly discovered.  See People v. Stokes, 83 

A.D.2d 968, 969 (N.Y.App.Div. 2d Dep’t 1981). 
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 94. Additionally, there has been a body of case law stemming from the investigations that 

former homicide Detective Louis Scarcella has been involved with. The 2nd Department has 

acknowledged that Scarcella has a pattern and practice of misconduct. See People v. Hargrove, supra. 

In the latest Scarcella related case, the Honorable Dena E. Douglas on November 19, 2019, (Kings 

County), granted Eliseo Deleon’s motion to vacate the judgment after a hearing and held (amongst 

other things): 

“ A motion to vacate a judgment of conviction upon the ground of newly-discovered evidence 
rests within the discretion of the hearing court” (People v. Malik, 81 A.D.3d 981, [2d Dept. 
2011], citing People v. Tankleff, 49 AD3d 160 [2d Dept. 2007]; People v. Bellamy, 84 AD3d 
1260, 1261 [2d Dept. 2011]). Accordingly the hearing court must assess “the probable effect 
of the newly-discovered evidence on the verdict.”; that is, the hearing court must determine 
whether the newly discovered evidence, when viewed in conjunction with the trial record, 
would have probably resulted in a more favorable verdict for the defendant (Malik, 81 A.D. 
3d at 982). 
 

 95. The Deleon court went on to state: 
 

“Based upon its review of the trial and hearing record, the Court is persuaded that there is a 
 reasonable probability that had the evidence about the investigatory practices of Detective 
 Scarcella … been known to the jury the result would have been more favorable to defendant 
 (see CPL 440.10 [1] [g]).” 

 
96. Here, Scarcella took the statement of Smith’s co-defendant, Lee. Additionally, Vernon 

Richardson stated to several witnesses that he was coerced and threatened by law enforcement. This 

is quintessential Scarcella. He was always the most aggressive cop in the investigation who stopped at 

nothing to secure a conviction – he was the closer at the time Mr. Smith was prosecuted. The 

involvement of Scarcella alone warrants a new trial for Mr. Smith.  

97. Accordingly, this Court should vacate Smith’s conviction due to newly discovered 

evidence or, at the very least, order an evidentiary hearing to determine the veracity of his claims. 

POINT III 
 

MR. SMITH’S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL WAS VIOLATED BY THE COERCIVE 
TACTICS USED BY THE PEOPLE WHICH LEAD TO THE FALSE TESTIMONY 

VERNON TRENT RICHARDSON 
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98. Richardson’s testimony is the lone piece of evidence against Smith. First, he made 

statements against penal interest to Frederick Shaw, Norman Richardson and Elpidio DeLeon. See 

generally People v. Settles, 46 N.Y.2d 154 (1978); see Exhibits I, J, H. These statements, because they 

are essentially admissions of perjured testimony by Richardson, should be viewed as highly credible. 

But more importantly, Dr. Cyril Wecht, in his expert report, provides definitive evidence that Vernon 

Richardson did not see the shooting, thereby corroborating the statements he made to his cousin, Shaw 

and DeLeon. Richardson’s initial statement and his testimony on September 4, 1987 both align with 

this version of the events, as well. He only changed his story after being held in isolation for four days, 

deprived of human comforts and care. 

99. This Court should not blindly accept the testimony of a witness if it flies in the face of 

credible evidence that is supported by forensic science. In People v. Garafolo, 44 A.D.2d 86 (1974), 

some 44 years ago, the New York Court of Appeals most eloquently stated: 

 “It is well settled of course, that issues of credibility are primarily for the trial court and its 
 determination is entitled to great weight. However, reversal is warranted where the fact-
 findings of the trial court are manifestly erroneous or so plainly unjustified by the evidence 
 that the interest of justice necessitates their nullification. We refuse to credit testimony which 
 has all appearances of having been patently tailored to nullify constitutional objection. In 
 evaluating testimony, we should not discard common sense and common knowledge.”  
 
 100. This concept is expressed in section 649 of 22 New York Jurisprudence, Evidence, as 

follows:  

“The rule is that testimony which is incredible and unbelievable, that is, impossible of belief 
 because it is manifestly untrue, physically impossible, contrary to experience, or self-
 contradictory, is to be disregarded as being without evidentiary value, even though it is not 
 contradicted by other testimony or evidence introduced in the case.” 44 A.D. at 88-89. 

 
101. “A conviction obtained through the use of false evidence, known to be such by 

representatives of the states, must fall under the Fourteenth Amendment.” Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 

264, 269 (1959) (Citations omitted). “The same result obtains when the State, although not soliciting 

false evidence, allows it to go uncorrected when it appears.”  
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 102. In People v, Saviddes, the New York Court of Appeals held:  

 It is of no consequence that the falsehood bore upon the witness' credibility rather than 
 directly upon defendant's guilt. A lie is a lie, no matter what its subject, and, if it is in any 
 way relevant to the case, the district attorney has the responsibility and duty to correct 
 what he knows to be false and elicit the truth. Nor does it avail respondent to contend that 
 defendant's guilt was clearly established or that disclosure would not have changed the 
 verdict. The argument overlooks the variant functions to be performed by jury and
 reviewing tribunal. "It is for jurors, not judges of an appellate court such as ours, to  decide 
 the issue of guilt." (People v. Mleczko, 298 N.Y. 153, 163 (1948)).  We may not close our eyes 
 to what occurred; regardless of the quantum of guilt or the asserted persuasiveness of the 
 evidence, the episode may not be overlooked. That the district attorney's silence was not the 
 result of guile or a desire to prejudice matters little, for its impact was the same, preventing, as 
 it did, a trial that could in any real sense be termed fair. 
 
 103. Prosecutors, in their role as public officers "must deal fairly with the accused, and be 

candid with the courts." People v. Steadman, 82 N.Y.2d 1, 7 (1993); People v.  Pelchat, 62 N.Y.2d 

97, 105 (1984).  "Deliberate  deception  of court and jury by the presentation of  testimony known 

to be perjured is inconsistent  with the rudimentary demands of justice." Mooney v. Holohan, 294 

U.S. 103,112 (1935).   

 104. Due process requires that a prosecutor correct false testimony. Banks  v. Dretke, 540 

U.S. 668 (2004); Alcorta v. Texas, 355 U.S. 28 (1957). This includes a duty to correct mistaken 

testimony. People v. Colon, 13 N.Y.3d 343,349 (2009); Steadman, 82 N.Y.2d at 7-8.  

105. Due process is violated if a prosecutor allows a witness to "mischaracterize" facts or 

if he or she knowingly exploits a witness' inaccurate testimony in summation. Novoa, 70 N.Y.2d at 

497-498. A prosecutor's misleading presentation of evidence or one which gives the jury a false 

"impression" similarly violates due process. People v. Vielman, 31 A.D.3d 674 (2006) (conviction 

reversed where prosecutor knew  her  argument rested on a "false premise" and was "blatant attempt 

to mislead jury"); see also Jenkins v. Artuz, 294 F.3d 284, 294-296 (2d Cir. 2002) (affirming habeas 

reversal of  murder  conviction  in case where prosecutor  elicited "technically accurate testimony" 

that no plea deal with witness existed, but questions were "misleading" and phrased in a manner 

which "left the jury with the mistaken impression" that no agreement existed with the witness). 
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106.  The trial prosecutor need not be aware of the falsity of a witness' testimony; if any 

member of her office  is  aware  that the testimony is inaccurate, this knowledge and the 

responsibility to correct the false testimony is  imputed  to  the  trial  prosecutor. Steadman, 82 

N.Y.2d at 8.  Even if the prosecutor does not have actual knowledge of the witness' false testimony,  

he is obligated to correct it if he should have known of its falsity. People v. Witkowski, 19 N.Y.2d 

839 (1967); People v. Robertson, 12 N.Y.2d 355, 360 (1963);  Su v. Filion, 335 F.3d 119,126-127 (2d 

Cir. 2003); People v. Irvin, 180 A.D.2d 753 (2d Dept. 1992); People v. Stern, 226 A.D.2d 238,240 

(1st Dept. 1996); see also People v. Bermudez, 25 Misc.3d 1226(a) (New York Cty. Sup. Ct. 2009) 

(the First and Second Departments have acknowledged that CPL 440.l0(l)(c) encompasses ... 

situations where the prosecutor should have known of false testimony). "Good faith" or  negligence 

is not a defense to a prosecutor's obligation to present accurate testimony and correct it if it is false 

or misleading. Robertson, 12 N.Y.2d at 359-360; Savvides, 1 N.Y.2d at 557. 

107. A conviction tainted by a prosecutor's knowing use of  false or mistaken testimony 

requires  reversal  and  a  new  trial  "unless there is no reasonable possibility that the error 

contributed to the conviction." Colon, 13 N.Y.3d at 349; People v. Pressley, 91 N.Y.2d 825, 82 

(1997). If a prosecutor "knowingly permitted the introduction of false testimony, reversal is 

"virtually automatic." United States v. Wallach, 935 F.2d 445, 456 (2nd Cir. 1991). 

108. Under the reasonable possibility standard, the People cannot establish beyond a reasonable doubt 

that their reliance upon the false testimony of Richardson did not affect the verdict. It was their entire case.17  

109. The People knew, after September 4, 1987, that Vernon Trent Richardson did not 

see the shooting of Gary Van Dorn. They also knew that the forensic evidence in this case 

	
17 The People fail under any standard.  
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conclusively refuted his coerced testimony. See Exhibit B.18 Even more egregious was the trial 

prosecutor’s misrepresentation of what he was going to do to Richardson after this Court released 

Richardson from the material witness order. The People circumvented Richardson’s right to 

counsel, threatened him at the District Attorney’s Office and threw him in a cell for 4 days without 

any communication with the outside world or his attorney. See Exhibits D, E, J, H, K.  

110. New York state and federal courts have frequently reversed convictions and 

indictments where the prosecutor relied on false testimony and/or false argument. See e.g. Colon, 13 

N.Y.3d 343 (2009) (murder); Steadman, 82 N.Y.2d 1 (1993)(manslaughter); Novoa, 70 N.Y.2d 490 

(1987) (murder); People v. Pelchat, 62N.Y.2d 97 (1984); Witkowski, 19 N.Y.2d 839 (1967); Robertson, 

12 N.Y.2d 355(1963);  Savvides, 1  N.Y.2d  554 (1956); People  v.  Bournes, 60 A.D.3d 687 (2d Dept. 

2009); Vielman, 31 A.D.2d 674 (2d Dept. 2006); People v. Jones, 31 A.D.3d 666(2d Dept. 2006) 

(murder); People v. Anderson, 256 A.D.2d 413 (2d Dept. 1998) (murder); Walters, 251 A.D.2d 433 

(2d Dept. 1998) (murder); People v. Schwartz, 240 A.D.2d 600 (2d  Dept. 1997); People v. Lewis, 174 

A.D.2d  294 (1st  Dept. 1992) (murder); Conlan, 146 A.D.2d 319 (1st Dept. 1989) (murder); Su, 335 

F.3d 119 (2d Cir. 2003) (murder); Jenkins, 294 F.3d 284 (2d Cir. 2002) (murder).   

111. The case at bar relied entirely on the coerced and false testimony of Vernon Trent 

Richardson. On that basis, this Court should either vacate Mr. Smith’s conviction or hold an 

evidentiary hearing.  See CPL § 440.10(1)(b), (c), (d), (f), & (h). 

POINT IV 

THE CONVICTION SHOULD BE VACATED DUE TO THE PEOPLE’S FAILURE TO 
TURN OVER BRADY AND ROSARIO MATERIAL  

 
Vernon Trent Richardson’s audiotaped transcript constituted Brady Material as it provided key 

impeachment evidence. 

	
18 Frankly, the proverbial nail in the coffin  is the expert report of Dr. Wecht. It proves that Richardson did not 
see the shooting, as Shaw and Norman Richardson previously stated. It also proves that the statements of 
Bazemore and Moore are credible. More dishearteningly, the People could have conducted their own “scene 
recreation” to determine the reliability of Richardson, but they did not.  
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112. In Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963), the U.S. Supreme Court held that the 

prosecution’s suppression of evidence favorable to a criminal defendant “violates due process where 

the evidence is material either to guilt or punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of 

the prosecution.” The duty to comply with Brady is an institutional one; the obligation of disclosure 

exists irrespective of an individual prosecutor’s good or bad faith.  Brady, 373 U.S. at 154 (1963).  

People v. Steadman, 82 N.Y.2d 1, 7 (1993).   

113. To establish a Brady violation a defendant must show that (1) exculpatory or 

impeaching evidence, (2) was suppressed by the prosecution, and (3) the evidence was material.  

Evidence is material if there is a “reasonable probability” that had the evidence been disclosed to the 

defense, the result of the trial would have been different.  United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 680 

(1985).  A reasonable probability exists whenever the chances of a different outcome are "better 

than negligible," United States ex. rel. Hampton v. Leibach, 347 F.3d 219, 246 (7th Cir. 2003), or put 

another way, if they are "more than mere speculation."  United States v. Berryman, 322 Fed. Appx. 

216, 222 (3d Cir. 2009).   

114. New York employs a more lenient materiality standard where the defense made a 

specific request for the withheld favorable evidence.  In these circumstances, the failure to disclose is 

“seldom, if ever excusable” and reversal is required if there is a “reasonable possibility” that the 

prosecution’s failure to disclose favorable evidence could have contributed to the defendant’s 

conviction.  People v. Vilardi, 76 N.Y.2d 67, 76-77 (1990). 

115. Here, the pretrial discovery requests show that Mr. Smith’s attorney requested the 

audio transcript.19  See Vilardi, 76 N.Y.2d at 77 (The failure to disclose specifically requested Brady 

	
19 The reasonable possibility standard applies in the instant case because of Mr. Smith’s attorneys request for the 
specific evidence that the People withheld in this case. Counsel for Smith requested and were absolutely entitled to 
the audio taped statement and transcript of Richardson.  
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material is “seldom, if ever” excusable).  Therefore, Smith has the burden of showing that there is 

reasonable possibility that, had his attorney had the transcript, the outcome of his trial would have 

been different.   

116. Smith meets his burden here.  As elucidated in Joseph Gianni’s affidavit, who was 

Calvin Lee’s attorney, Richardson’s audiotaped transcript is rife with inconsistencies when compared 

to his trial testimony. See Exhibit O. Had counsel for Smith been able to “single-mindedly” litigate 

this case with the transcript, he would have been able to fully cross examine Richardson. Because of 

the actions of the prosecution, this ability was stripped from him. See People v. Rosario, 9 N.Y.2d 

286, 290 (1961) (“[O]missions, contrasts and even contradictions, vital perhaps, for discrediting a 

witness, are certainly not as apparent to the [prosecutor] as to single-minded counsel for the accused; 

the latter is in a far better position to appraise the value of a witness' [benefit provided by a 

prosecutor] for impeachment purposes. Until the [defendant’s] attorney has an opportunity to 

[evaluate the true nature of the benefits conferred upon a witness], it is asked, how can he effectively 

[reply to the prosecutor’s] assertion that it contains nothing at variance with the testimony given or, 

at least, useful to him in his attempt to discredit such witness?”).  

The People’s failure to turn over Richardson’s Audiotaped Transcript with the District Attorney’s 
Office Constitutes a Rosario Violation 

 
 117. The United States Supreme Court has held that a defendant "is entitled to inspect" 

any statement made by the Government's witness which bears on the subject matter of the witness' 

testimony.” People v. Rosario, 9 N.Y.2d 286, 289 (1961) (see Jencks v. United States, 353 U.S. 657, 

667, 668 (1957)). “The procedure to be followed turns largely on policy considerations, and upon 

further study and reflection this court is persuaded that a right sense of justice entitles the defense to 

examine a witness' prior statement, whether or not it varies from his testimony on the stand. As long 

as the statement relates to the subject matter of the witness' testimony and contains nothing that 

must be kept confidential, defense counsel should be allowed to determine for themselves the use to 
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be made of it on cross-examination.” Id. (Cf. U. S. Code, tit. 18, § 3500). The question then turns to 

whether a defendant was prejudiced by the failure of the People to turn over the documents that 

relate to that witnesses’ testimony.  Id. at 291 (citations omitted). 

 118. Here, Richardson’s transcript of the audiotaped statement is clearly Rosario material. 

As stated by Gianni in his affidavit, it varied greatly from Richardson’s trial testimony and could 

have easily been used to further impeach Richardson to an unknown degree.  

119. “When, as here, the prosecution's violation of the rule is not delay in compliance, but 

a complete failure to deliver the items, the violation constitutes per se error….” See People v. Jones, 

70 N.Y.2d 547, 553 (1987). The next step in the evaluation is to determine whether the failure to 

turn over the documents creates a reasonable possibility that the documents materially contributed 

to the result of the trial. See CPL 240.75; see also People v. Martinez, 22 N.Y.3d 551, 563 (2014).  

 120. Joseph Gianni, counsel for Calvin Lee, clearly stated in his affidavit that he would 

have used the audiotaped transcript to point out the glaring inconsistencies from Richardson’s 

testimony. In fact, Gianni stated that the audiotaped transcript provided direct evidence that 

Richardson fabricated his story. See Exhibit O.  

121. Furthermore, “defense counsel ‘is in a far better position [than the court or the 

prosecutor] to appraise the value of a witness' pretrial statements for impeachment purposes People 

v. Jones, 70 N.Y.2d at 550 (People v Rosario, supra, at 290) and that the ultimate appraisal of the 

material's usefulness must be made by defense counsel…"'to afford the defendant a fair opportunity 

to cross-examine the People's witnesses at trial.'" People v. Jones, 70 N.Y.2d at 550; People v 

Rosario, supra, at 290; People v Perez, 65 N.Y.2d 154, 158 (1985); quoting People v Poole, 48 NY2d 

144, 149 (1979)). 
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122. Gianni’s affidavit is clear: he felt the audiotape transcript provided powerful evidence 

of Richardson’s fabricated testimony. For this reason, this Court should reverse Mr. Smith’s 

conviction and order a new trial. 

POINT V 

TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHEN HE FAILED TO PRESENT A 
FORENSIC PATHOLOGIST OR FORENSIC EXPERT TO REFUTE RICHARDSON’S 
VERSION OF THE EVENTS. COUNSEL FURTHER FAILED TO INVESTIGATE OR 

CALL EYEWITNESSES TO REFUTE RICHARDSON’S TESTIMONY 
 
123. Mr. Smith submits that the failure to call a forensic expert to refute Richardson’s 

testimony amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel. Dr. Wecht, who has been practicing medicine 

for 57 years, has been involved in numerous scene recreations, including the assassinations of John F. 

Kennedy and Robert F. Kennedy. He provided definitive proof that, with the evidence in the 

possession of the defense at the time of trial, Richardson’s testimony was refuted by forensic science. 

See Exhibit B. He did not see the murder of Gary Van Dorn. 

124. It is axiomatic that under both the United States and New York State Constitutions 

that criminal defendants are entitled to effective assistance of counsel.  See Strickland v. Washington, 

466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); see also People v. Baldi, 54 N.Y.2d 137, 147 (1981). 

125. Under Strickland and its progeny, a defendant who claims that he was denied the 

effective assistance of counsel must pass a two-prong test: he must show both that his attorney fell 

below accepted professional standards and that he was prejudiced by his counsel's lapse.  See id.  In 

New York, a defendant may obtain relief if he was denied "meaningful representation" at every stage 

of the trial process.  See Baldi, 54 N.Y.2d at 147. 

126. In order to demonstrate prejudice under the Strickland standard, the defendant must 

show a reasonable probability that his counsel's errors affected the outcome of the trial.  See Strickland, 

466 U.S. at 686.  In Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 434 (1995), the United States Supreme Court 

explained that the “reasonable probability” standard is met when the errors of trial counsel 
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“undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial." In addition, the Kyles Court further stated that 

the reasonable probability standard does not require demonstration by a preponderance of the 

evidence that counsel’s error “would have resulted ultimately in the defendant's acquittal” and that 

“[a] defendant need not demonstrate that after discounting the [errors of counsel], there would not 

have been enough left to convict.”  Id. at 434-35.  

127. Thus, a defendant need not show that he would have been acquitted or that he would 

have been entitled to judgment as a matter of law had his counsel not erred, but only that his counsel’s 

performance undermines confidence in the outcome when considered as part of the whole case.  Id.  

Moreover, this determination may be made with the benefit of hindsight.  Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 

U.S. 364, 372 (1993). 

128. The New York standard under Baldi, which demands that criminal defense attorneys 

provide "meaningful representation," is a more "flexible standard" than Strickland.  See People v. 

Murray, 300 A.D.2d 819, 821 (3d Dept. 2003).  New York courts have never applied the ineffective 

assistance test "with such stringency as to require a defendant to show that, but for counsel's 

ineffectiveness, the outcome would probably have been different."  People v. Stultz, 2 N.Y.3d 277, 

283 (2004).  Prejudice, under New York law, is "a significant but not indispensible element in assessing 

meaningful representation," with the court's focus being "on the fairness of the proceedings as a 

whole."  Id. at 284 (emphasis added).  Thus, a defendant may obtain relief for ineffective assistance of 

counsel under the New York Constitution even if he cannot demonstrate sufficient prejudice to meet 

the Federal standard. 

129. The reverse, however, is not true.  If an attorney commits a single error that rises to 

the level of prejudice specified by Strickland, then the defendant has been deprived of his Sixth 

Amendment rights even if that attorney's representation was "competent in all other respects."  Henry 

v. Poole, 409 F.3d 48, 61 (2d Cir. 2005).  In Rosario v. Ercole, 601 F.3d 118 (2d Cir. 2010), the Second 
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Circuit further explored the interplay between the New York State ineffective assistance standard and 

Strickland.  The majority opinion included, inter alia, the following: 

[The New York] approach... creates a danger that some courts might misunderstand the New 
York standard and look past a prejudicial error as long as counsel conducted himself in a way 
that bespoke of general competency throughout the trial. That would produce an absurd result 
inconsistent with... the mandates of Strickland. Id. at 126 (emphasis added). 
 
130. Thus, the defendant in this case is entitled to relief if he can satisfy either the Strickland 

or Baldi standard, although this issue is academic because he has met both standards.  Moreover, the 

Second Circuit has strongly urged state courts to analyze ineffective assistance claims separately under 

the State and Federal standards where both are invoked.  See Rosario v. Ercole, 617 F.3d 683, 685, 

687-88 (2d Cir. 2010). 

131. Finally, unlike actual innocence claims which must be proven by clear and convincing 

evidence, or even newly discovered evidence claims where the defendant must prove that the evidence 

at issue probably would have changed the result at trial, an ineffective assistance claim only requires 

proof of a reasonable probability of a different outcome.  And a reasonable probability is "a fairly low 

threshold."  Riggs v. Fairman, 399 F.3d 1179, 1183 (9th Cir. 2005), citing Sanders v. Ratelle, 21 F.3d 

1446, 1461 (9th Cir.1994).   

132. In particular, the reasonable probability standard does not require that prejudice be 

demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence.  Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 434 (1995).  Courts 

have accordingly held that a reasonable probability "may be less than fifty percent."  Ouber v. Guarino, 

293 F.3d 19, 26 (1st Cir. 2002); United States v. Bowie, 198 F.3d 905, 908-09 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (same); 

United States v. Vargas, 709 F. Supp. 2d 48, 50 (D.D.C. 2010) (same); United States v. Nelson, 921 F. 

Supp. 105, 120 (E.D.N.Y. 1996) (finding that 33 percent chance amounted to a reasonable probability).  

Indeed, it has been held that a reasonable probability exists whenever the chances of a different 

outcome are "better than negligible," United States ex. rel. Hampton v. Leibach, 347 F.3d 219, 246 
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(7th Cir. 2003), or put another way, if they are "more than mere speculation."  United States v. 

Berryman, 322 Fed. Appx. 216, 222 (3d Cir. 2009). 

 133. In the case at bar, trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when he 

failed to call a forensic pathologist or forensic expert to refute the false testimony Richardson. See 

Exhibit B. The science was available to the defense at the time of the shooting, yet, neither the 

defense nor the prosecution sought to use it. The testimony of Richardson was the entire case.  Had 

forensic experts been called to rebut these witnesses, there is more than a reasonable probability that 

the outcome would have been different.   People v. Caldavado, 26 N.Y.3d 1034, 1036-37 (2015).   

 134. Additionally, Counsel’s failure to call eyewitnesses (Frederick Shaw, Ronald Moore 

and Kevin Bazemore) was plainly a violation of Mr. Smith’s right to effective assistance of counsel. 

In sum, “if certain [of counsel’s] omissions cannot be explained convincingly as resulting from a 

sound trial strategy, but instead arose from oversight, carelessness, ineptitude, or laziness," then the 

defendant has been deprived of his constitutional rights.  Eze v. Senkowski, 321 F.3d 110, 112 (2d 

Cir. 2003); accord Cornell v. Kirkpatrick, 665 F.3d 369, 371 (2d Cir. 2011) (citing Eze).  That is 

clearly the case here, given that trial counsel was fully on notice of Frederick Shaw, and others, but 

did nothing to contact or investigate Shaw let alone call him. See also People v. Bussey, 6  A.D. 3d 

621 (2d Dept. 2004) 

135. Therefore, this Court should vacate Mr. Smith’s conviction or, alternatively, grant him 

a hearing. 

POINT VI 
 

THE COMBINED EFFECT OF NEWLY DISCOVERED 
EVIDENCE, FRAUD UPON THE COURT, BRADY AND 

ROSARIO VIOLATIONS AND INEFFECTIVE 
ASSISTANCE REQUIRES A NEW TRIAL 

 
136. As noted above, defendant contends that either the newly discovered evidence in the 

form of the expert reports, Scarcella’s pattern and practices, the fraud upon the court, Brady and/or 
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Rosario violations or his trial counsel’s ineffectiveness, entitles him to relief.  But even if this Court 

were to find that each of these claims standing alone was insufficiently prejudicial, it nevertheless can 

and should vacate Mr. Smith’s conviction based on their cumulative effect. 

137. The courts have recognized that “[u]ltimately, sufficient harmless errors must be 

deemed harmful.” People v. LaDolce, 196 A.D.2d 49, 53 (4th Dept. 1994), quoting People v. 

Dowdell, 88 A.D.3d 239, 248 (1st Dept. 1982).  As discussed above, for reasons that defendant will 

not belabor the record by reiterating, although either fraud upon the court, Brady/Rosario violations, 

or the new expert reports are sufficient to require a new trial on their own, together they can only be 

described as compelling.  Thus, this Court should find that the cumulative effect of the evidence 

provided in this motion requires CPL § 440.10 relief in the form of a new trial or hearing to 

determine the merits. 

POINT VII 
 

AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING SHOULD BE HELD TO DETERMINE THE 
VERACITY OF SMITH’S BASED UPON ACTUAL INNOCENCE,  
FRAUD UPON THE COURT, BRADY/ROSARIO VIOLATIONS, 

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND NEWLY DISCOVERED 
EVIDENCE. NEW YORK CRIMINAL PROCEDURE LAW 440.30 (5). 

 
 138. At this late stage in jurisprudence, it is elementary that the right to an evidentiary 

hearing on claims that dehor the record is mandated under Criminal Procedure Law 440.10. (See e.g., 

People v. Peque, 22 NY3d 168, 202, 980 NYS2d 280, 3 NE3d 617 [2013]; People v. Denny, 85 NY2d 

921, 923, 743 NE2d 877, 721 NYS2d 304 [2000]; also see Criminal Procedure Law 440.30 (5); People 

v. Kocaj, 160 AD3d 766, 767, 73 N.Y.S.2d 234 [2d Dept. 2018]; People v. Taylor, 156 AD3d 86, 91-

92, 64 N.Y.S.3d , 714 [3d Dept. 2017].  

139. The facts in this case warrant nothing less than an evidentiary hearing to discern the 

truth so that it may be proven that Mr. Smith’s right to due process was violated during his trial. 

CONCLUSION 
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KEVIN SMITH WAS CONVICTED MERELY UPON THE FALSE TESTIMONY OF ONE 
COERCED WITNESSED. THIS WITNESS’S TESTIMONY IS BELIED NOT ONLY BY 
OTHER WITNESSES, BUT ALSO FORENSIC SCIENCE. AS SUCH, SMITH’S 
CONVICTION SHOULD NOT STAND. PLEASE CORRECT A MANIFEST INJUSTICE. 
 
 WHEREFORE, in light of the foregoing, this Court should issue an Order granting 

defendant’s motion in its entirety; dismissing the Murder charges and related weapon possession 

counts or granting a new trial thereon; and granting such other and further relief as it may deem just 

and proper. 

Dated: Forest Hills, New York 
 January 3, 2020 
       Respectfully submitted, 
 
       JUSTIN C. BONUS, ATTORNEY AT LAW 
 
 
       /s/ Justin Bonus________________________ 
       JUSTIN C. BONUS 
       Attorney for Kevin Smith 
       118-35 Queens Blvd, Suite 400 
       Forest Hills, NY, 11375 
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July 19, 2018 
 
Lonnie Soury 
Soury Communications, Inc. 
286 Madison Ave, Suite 907 
New York, NY 10017 
 
Re: Kevin Smith  
  
Dear Mr. Soury: 
 
 This report is per your request in the above-referenced case. 
 

I. Qualifications 
 

I am the Hamill Family Professor of Law and Psychology at the University of San 
Francisco, and formerly an Associate Professor of Psychology and an Associate Professor of 
Criminology at the University of California, Irvine.  My areas of research, training, and 
specialization include social psychology, criminology, sociology, and law.  For more than two 
decades, I have conducted extensive empirical research on police interrogation practices, the 
psychology of interrogation and confessions, psychological coercion, police-induced false 
confessions, and erroneous convictions.  In 1992 and 1993, I spent nine months doing field 
research inside the Oakland Police Department, which included sitting in on and 
contemporaneously observing one-hundred twenty-two (122) felony interrogations; in 1993, I 
also observed sixty (60) fully videotaped interrogations in the Vallejo and Hayward Police 
Departments in northern California.   Since then, I have analyzed thousands of cases involving 
interrogations and confessions; I have researched, written, and published numerous peer-
reviewed articles on these subjects in scientific and legal journals; and I have written several 
books on these subjects, including Police Interrogation and American Justice (Harvard 
University Press, 2008) and Confessions of Guilt: From Torture to Miranda and Beyond (Oxford 
University Press, 2012).   

 
I am regarded as a national and leading expert on these topics, and I have won numerous 

individual and career achievement awards for my scholarship and publications.  My scholarship 
has often been featured in the news media and cited by appellate courts, including the United 
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States Supreme Court, on multiple occasions.  To date, I have consulted with criminal and civil 
attorneys on more than nineteen hundred (1,900) cases involving disputed interrogations and/or 
confessions, and I have been qualified and testified as an expert witness three-hundred and fifty 
(350) times in state, federal and military courts in thirty-six (36) states (including in the State of 
New York) and the District of Columbia.  I have given many lectures to judges, defense 
attorneys, prosecutors, and other criminal justice professionals, and I have taught interrogation 
training courses and/or given lectures to police departments in the United States, China, and the 
Republic of Cyprus. My qualifications are summarized in greater detail in my curriculum vitae, 
which is attached to this report. 

 
II. Materials Reviewed 

 
In conjunction with my preparation of this report, I have reviewed the following 

materials: 
 

• Trial Transcript, State of New York v. Calvin Lee and Kevin Smith 
(September, 1987) 

• Letter from Scott Brettschneider to Independent Review Panel (July 31, 2015) 
• Affidavit of Kevin Bazemore (November 9, 1984) 
• Affidavit of Joseph Giannini (April 4, 2015) 
• Affidavit of Frank Paone (July 21, 2015) 
• District Attorney Notes and Line Up Sheet 
• Complaint Reports (DD5’s) 
• Affidavit of Ronald Moore (June 5, 1992) 
• Statement of Trent Richardson (September 2, 1987) 
• Letter from Laurie Kumbo to Kenneth Thompson (September 5, 2015) 
• Letter from David Barrett Investigations to Phillip Russotti (April 6, 2015) 
• Police Officer Memo Book and Notes 
• Partially Recorded Interview of Trent Richardson (November 10, 1984) 
• Rap Sheet of Trent Richardson (23 Pages) 
• Unsealing Order 

 
III. Overview 

 
 In this report, I will first provide an overview of the relevant social science research on 
the psychology of police interrogation practices and techniques, police-induced false 
confessions, risk factors for false confession, psychological coercion, police interrogation 
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contamination, and indicia of unreliability.  I will then discuss these issues as they relate to the 
interrogation of Trent Richardson and the reliability of his subsequent statements.1    

 
More specifically, in my professional opinion:  
 
1) It has been well-documented in the empirical social science research literature that a 

substantial number of innocent suspects have confessed during police interrogation to crimes 
(often very serious crimes such as murder and rape) that it was later objectively proven they did 
not commit.  Many witnesses have also been coerced into providing false accusations and/or 
false testimony. The same principles apply to the interrogation of suspects as to the interrogation 
of witnesses: psychological coercion by police and/or prosecutorial authorities can and 
sometimes does lead to false statements, admissions and/or confessions.2   

 
2) The conditions of Trent Richardson’s interrogation were psychologically coercive.  

and contained interrogation techniques that are known to cause a person to perceive he or she has 
no choice but to comply with the demands and/or requests of his or her interrogators, and that are 
known to increase the risk of eliciting involuntary and/or unreliable statements, admissions 
and/or confessions. 

 
IV. The Scientific Study of Police Interrogation, Psychological Coerion 

 and False Statements, Admissions and/or Confessions 
 
There is a well-established empirical field of research in the academic disciplines of 

psychology, criminology, and sociology on the subjects of police interrogation practices, 
psychological coercion, and false confessions.  This research dates back to 1908; has been the 
subject of extensive publication (hundreds of academic journal articles, stand-alone books, and 
book chapters in edited volumes); has been subjected to peer review and testing; is based on 
recognized scientific principles, methods, and findings; and is generally accepted in the social 
scientific community.  Significantly, numerous courts have held repeatedly that these principles, 
methods, and findings are generally accepted in the social science community and therefore 
accepted expert testimony in criminal and civil rights litigation.3 
                                                
1 Because police investigators failed to electronically record the actual interrogations of Trent Richardson, we are 
forever deprived of an objective record of what occurred during these interrogations. 
2  National Registry of Exonerations. http://www.law.umich.edu/special/exoneration/Pages/about.aspx 
3  Saul M. Kassin et al., Police–Induced Confessions: Risk Factors and Recommendations, 34 L. & Hum. Behav. 

3, 16 (2010) (noting that “false confessions tend to occur after long periods of time” and “sleep deprivation is 
historically one of the most potent methods used to ... extract confessions”); Gisli H. Gudjonsson et al., 
Custodial Interrogation, False Confession and Individual Differences: A National Study Among Icelandic 
Youth, 41 Personality & Individual Differences 49, 56 (2006) (finding that depressed mood is linked to a 
susceptibility to provide false confession to police); Brandon L. Garrett, The Substance of False Confessions, 62 
Stan. L.Rev. 1051, 1087 (2010) (“The vast majority of these exonerees made statements in their interrogations 
that were contradicted by crime scene evidence, victim accounts, or other evidence known to police during their 
investigation.”); Richard A. Leo, False Confessions: Causes, Consequences, and Implications, 37 J. Am. Acad. 
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 This research has analyzed numerous police-induced false confessions and identified the 
personal and situational factors associated with, and believed to cause, false confessions.4  The 
fact that police-induced false confessions can and do occur has been well-documented and is not 
disputed by anyone in the law enforcement or academic community.  Indeed, leading police 
interrogation training manuals have, at least since 2001, contained entire chapters and sections 
on the problem of police-induced false confessions and what investigators need to know to better 
understand and avoid eliciting false confessions from innocent suspects.5  Social scientists have 
documented approximately four-hundred and fifty to five-hundred proven false confessions in 
America since the early 1970s,6 but this is surely an underestimate and thus the tip of a much 
larger iceberg for several reasons.  First, false confessions are difficult for researchers to discover 
because neither the state nor any organization keeps records of the interrogations producing 
them.  Second, even when they are discovered, false confessions are notoriously hard to establish 
because of the factual and logical difficulties of proving the confessor’s absolute innocence.  As 
a result, Richard Ofshe and I coined the term “proven false confession” in 1998,7 showing that 
there are only four ways in which a disputed confession can be classified as proven beyond any 
doubt to be false:  
 

                                                                                                                                                       
Psychiatry & L. 332, 337 (2009) (“Interrogators help create the false confession by pressuring the suspect to 
accept a particular account and by suggesting facts of the crime to him, thereby contaminating the suspect's 
postadmission narrative.... If the entire interrogation is captured on audio or video recording, then it may be 
possible to trace, step by step, how and when the interrogator implied or suggested the correct answers for the 
suspect to incorporate into his postadmission narrative.”); Steven A. Drizin & Beth A. Colgan, Let the Cameras 
Roll: Mandatory Videotaping of Interrogations Is the Solution to Illinois' Problem of False Confessions, 32 
Loy. U. Chi. L.J. 337, 339–41 (2001) (accord). 

4 See Saul Kassin, Steven Drizin, Thomas Grisso, Gisli Gudjonsson, Richard A. Leo and Allison Redlich (2010). 
“Police-Induced Confessions: Risk Factors and Recommendations” in  Law and Human Behavior, 34, 3-38; 
Richard A. Leo (2008), POLICE INTERROGATION AND AMERICAN JUSTICE (Harvard University Press); 
and Gisli Gudjonsson (2003), THE PSYCHOLOGY OF INTERROGATIONS AND CONFESSIONS: A 
HANDBOOK (John Wiley & Sons Inc). 

5  See, for example, See Fred Inbau, John Reid, Joseph Buckley and Brian Jayne (2001).  CRIMINAL 
INTERROGATION AND CONFESSIONS, 4th Edition (Aspen Publishers, Inc.) at 411-448; and David 
Zulawski and Douglas Wicklander (2002).  PRACTICALASPECTS OF INTERVIEWING AND 
INTERROGATION, 2nd Edition (CRC Press) at 73-104. 

6  The largest published study of proven false confessions to date is Steven Drizin and Richard A. Leo (2004).  
“The Problem of False Confessions in the Post-DNA World.  North Carolina Law Review, 82, 891-1007.  For a 
review of the literature documenting proven false confessions, see Richard A. Leo (2008), POLICE 
INTERROGATION AND AMERICAN JUSTICE.  At that time, there were approximately two-hundred and 
fifty to three-hundred proven false confessions in the documented literature.  Since 2004, Steve Drizin, Gillian 
Emmerich and I have collected an additional two-hundred proven false confessions that are the subject of an 
academic article we are currently drafting but have not yet submitted for publication. 

7  Richard A. Leo and Richard Ofshe (1998).  “The Consequences of False Confessions: Deprivations of Liberty 
and Miscarriages of Justice in the Age of Psychological Interrogation.” The Journal of Criminal Law and 
Criminology.  Vol. 88, No. 2.  Pp. 429-496. 
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1) when it can be objectively established that the suspect confessed to a crime that did 
not happen;  

2) when it can be objectively established that it would have been physically impossible 
for the confessor to have committed the crime;  

3) when the true perpetrator is identified and his guilt is objectively established; and/or 
4) when scientific evidence dispositively establishes the confessor’s innocence.   

 
 However, only a small number of cases involving a disputed confession will ever come 
with independent case evidence that allows the suspect to prove his innocence beyond dispute 
because doing so is akin to proving the negative. The documented number of proven false 
confessions in the scientific research literature is, therefore, a dramatic undercount of the actual 
false confessions that police have elicited in the United States in recent decades.  There have 
almost certainly been thousands (if not tens or hundreds of thousands) more police-induced false 
confessions than researchers have been able to discover and classify as proven false.  Indeed, in a 
survey of police that my colleagues and I published in 2007, police investigators themselves 
estimated that they elicited false confessions in 4.78% of their interrogations.8 

 
The subject of police interrogation and false confessions is beyond common knowledge 

and highly counter-intuitive.9  Police detectives receive specialized training in psychological 
interrogation techniques; most people do not know what these techniques are or how the 
techniques are designed to work (i.e., move a suspect from denial to admission).  In addition, 
most people also do not know what psychological coercion is, why some techniques are regarded 
as psychologically coercive, and what their likely effects are.  Moreover, most people do not 
know which interrogation techniques create a risk of eliciting false confessions or how and why 
the psychological process of police interrogation can, and sometimes does, lead suspects to 
falsely confess. This unfamiliarity causes most people to assume that virtually all confessions are 
true.   
 

                                                
8  Saul Kassin, Richard Leo, Christian Meissner, Kimberly Richman, Lori Colwell, Amy-May Leach, and Dana 

La Fon (2007).  “Police Interviewing and Interrogation: A Self-Report Survey of Police Practices and Beliefs,” 
Law and Human Behavior, 31, 381-400. 

9 See Danielle Chojnacki, Michael Cicchini and Lawrence White (2008), “An Empirical Basis for the Admission 
of Expert Testimony on False Confessions,” Arizona State Law Journal, 40, 1-45; Richard A. Leo and 
Brittany Liu (2009).  “What Do Potential Jurors Know About Police Interrogation and False Confessions?” 
Behavioral Sciences and the Law, 27, 381-399; Linda Henkel, Kimberly Coffman, and Elizabeth Dailey (2008).  
“A Survey of People’s Attitudes and Beliefs About False Confessions,”  Behavioral Sciences and the Law, 26, 
555-584; Iris Blandon-Gitlin, Kathryn Sperry, and Richard A. Leo (2011) “Jurors Believe Interrogation Tactics 
Are Not Likely to Elicit False Confessions: Will Expert Witness Testimony Inform Them Otherwise?” in 
Psychology, Crime and Law, 17, 239-260; and Mark Costanzo, Netta Shaked-Schroer and Katherine Vinson 
(2010), “Juror Beliefs About Police Interrogation, False Confession and Expert Testimony” in The Journal of 
Legal Empirical Studies, 7, 231-247. 
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V. The Social Psychology of Police Interrogation10 
 
 Police interrogation is a cumulative, structured, and time-sequenced process in which 

detectives draw on an arsenal of psychological techniques in order to overcome a suspect’s 
denials and elicit incriminating statements, admissions, and/or confessions.  This is the sole 
purpose of custodial interrogation.  To achieve this purpose, interrogators use techniques that 
seek to influence, persuade, manipulate, and deceive suspects into believing that their situation is 
hopeless and that their best interest lies in confessing.11  Sometimes, however, interrogators cross 
the line and employ techniques and methods of interrogation that are coercive and increase the 
likelihood of eliciting unreliable confessions or statements. 

 
Contemporary American interrogation methods are structured to persuade a rational 

guilty person who knows he is guilty to rethink his initial decision to deny culpability and choose 
instead to confess.  Police interrogators know that it is not in any suspect’s rational self-interest 
to confess.  They expect to encounter resistance and denials to their allegations, and they know 
that they must apply a certain amount of interpersonal pressure and persuasion to convince a 
reluctant suspect to confess.  As a result, interrogators have, over the years, developed a set of 
subtle and sophisticated interrogation techniques whose purpose is to alter a guilty suspect’s 
perceptions so that he will see the act of confessing as being in his self-interest.   

 
These interrogation techniques were developed for the purpose of inducing guilty 

individuals to confess to their crimes, and police are admonished in their training to use them 
only on suspects believed to be guilty.12   When these same techniques are used on innocent 
suspects, they carry a heightened risk that they will elicit false statements, admissions and/or 
confessions.   

 
The goal of an interrogator is to persuade a suspect to view his immediate situation 

differently by focusing the suspect’s attention on a limited set of choices and alternatives, and by 
convincing him of the likely consequences that attach to each of these choices.  The process 
often unfolds in two steps: first, the interrogator causes the suspect to view his situation as 
hopeless; and, second, the interrogator persuades the suspect that only by confessing will the 
suspect be able to improve his otherwise hopeless situation.  The interrogator makes it clear what 
                                                
10    See Richard A. Leo (2009).  “False Confessions: Causes, Consequences and Implications.”  Journal of the 

American Academy of Psychiatry and Law, 37, 332-343. 
11  Deborah Davis and William O’Donohue (2004). “The road to perdition: Extreme influence tactics in the 

interrogation room,” In William O’Donohue, ED (2004), Handbook of Forensic Psychology (San Diego: 
Academic Press).  Pp. 897-996. 

12  See Fred Inbau, John Reid, Joseph Buckley and Brian Jayne (2013).  CRIMINAL INTERROGATION AND 
CONFESSIONS, 5th Edition (Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning) at 187 (“These nine steps are 
presented in the context of the interrogation of suspects whose guilt seems definite or reasonably certain”).  For 
empirical support for this observation, see Richard A. Leo (2008).  POLICE INTERROGATION AND 
AMERICAN JUSTICE (Harvard University Press). 
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information he is seeking and attempts to convince the suspect that his only rational option is to 
confirm the information the interrogator purports to already know. 

 
The first step or stage of an interrogation consists of causing a suspect to view his 

situation as hopeless.  If the interrogator is successful at this stage, he will undermine the 
suspect’s self-confidence and cause the suspect to reason that there is no way to escape the 
interrogation without incriminating himself.  To accomplish this, interrogators accuse the suspect 
of having committed the crime; they attack and try to undermine a suspect’s assertion of an alibi, 
alternate sequence of events, or verbalization of innocence (pointing out or inventing logical and 
factual inconsistencies, implausibilities, and/or impossibilities); they exude unwavering 
confidence in their assertions of the suspect’s and his accomplices’ guilt; they refuse to accept 
the possibility of the suspect’s denials; and, most importantly, they confront the suspect with 
incontrovertible evidence of his guilt, whether real or non-existent.  Because interrogation is a 
cumulative and time-sequenced process, interrogators often draw on these techniques repeatedly 
and/or in succession, building on their earlier accusations, challenges and representations at each 
step in the interrogation process. 

 
Through the use of these techniques, the interrogator communicates to the suspect that he 

has been caught, that there is no way he will escape the interrogation without incriminating 
himself and other suspects, and that his future is determined—that regardless of the suspect’s 
denials or protestations of innocence, he is going to be arrested, prosecuted, convicted, and 
punished.  The interrogator seeks to convince the suspect that this is a fact that has been 
established beyond any doubt, and thus that any objective person must necessarily reason to this 
conclusion.  By persuading the suspect that he has been caught, that the existing evidence or case 
facts objectively prove his guilt, and that it is only a matter of time before he will be prosecuted 
and convicted, the interrogator seeks to alter the suspect’s perceptions, such that he comes to 
view his situation as hopeless and to perceive that resisting the interrogator’s demands is futile. 

 
Once the interrogator has caused the suspect to understand that he has been caught and 

that there is no way out of this predicament, the interrogator seeks to convince the suspect that 
the only way to improve his otherwise hopeless situation is by confessing to the offense(s) of 
which he is accused and confirming the information the interrogator is seeking to extract from 
the suspect.  The second step of the interrogation thus consists of offering the suspect 
inducements to confess—reasons or scenarios that suggest the suspect will receive some 
personal, moral, communal, procedural, material, legal or other benefit if he confesses to the 
interrogator’s version of the offense.  One goal of these scenarios or inducements is to downplay 
both the seriousness of the alleged crime as well as the consequences of confessing, leading the 
suspect to perceive that the consequences of continuing to deny the accusations will be worse 
than the consequences of admitting to participation in the crime.  The interrogator’s attempt to 
diminish the suspect’s perception of the consequences of confessing is combined with techniques 
that are designed to increase the suspect’s anxiety in order to create the perceived need for 
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release from the stress of prolonged interrogation. 13  Investigators also use scenarios to plant 
ideas or suggestions about how or why the suspect may have committed the crime which they 
may later pressure the suspect to accept and repeat. 

 
Researchers have classified the types of inducements investigators use during the second 

step of interrogation into three categories: low-end inducements, systemic inducements, and 
high-end inducements.   

 
Low-end inducements refer to interpersonal or moral appeals the interrogator uses to 

convince a suspect that he will feel better if he confesses.  For example, an interrogator may tell 
a suspect that the truth will set him free if he confesses, that confessing will relieve his anxiety or 
guilt, that confessing is the moral or Christian thing to do, or that confessing will improve his 
standing in the eyes of the victim or the eyes of the community. 

 
Systemic inducements refer to appeals that the interrogator uses to focus the suspect’s 

attention on the processes and outcomes of the criminal justice system in order to get the suspect 
to come to the conclusion that his case is likely to be processed more favorably by all actors in 
the criminal justice system if he confesses.  For example, an interrogator may tell a suspect that 
he is the suspect’s ally and will try to help him out—both in his discussions with the prosecutor 
as well as in his role as a professional witness at trial—but can only do so if the suspect first 
admits his guilt.  Or the interrogator may ask the suspect how he expects the prosecutor to look 
favorably on the suspect’s case if the suspect does not cooperate with authorities.  Or the 
interrogator may ask the suspect what a judge and jury are really going to think, and how they 
are likely to react, if he does not demonstrate remorse and admit his guilt to authorities.  
Interrogators often couple the use of systemic incentives with the assertion that this is the 
suspect’s one and only chance—now or never—to tell his side of the story; if he passes up this 
opportunity, all the relevant actors in the system (police, prosecutor, judge and jury) will no 
longer be open to the possibility of viewing his actions in their most favorable light.  This tactic 
may incentivize a suspect to either falsely confess or confirm an incorrect story for the 
interrogator based on the belief that the suspect will not have the same opportunity to help 
himself again in the future.  Interrogators rely on systemic inducements to persuade the suspect to 
reason to the conclusion that the justice system naturally confers rewards for those who admit 
guilt, demonstrate remorse, and cooperate with authorities, whereas it inevitably metes out 
punishment for those who do not. 

 

                                                
13  See Brian Jayne (1986).  “The Psychological Principles of Criminal Interrogation,” in Fred Inbau, John Reid 

and Joseph Buckley (1986).  CRIMINAL INTERROGATION AND CONFESSIONS, Third Edition 
(Baltimore, MD: Williams & Wilkins) at 332.( “The goal of interrogation is therefore to decrease the suspect’s 
perception of the consequences of confessing, while at the same time increasing the suspect’s internal anxiety 
associated with his deception.”). 
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Finally, high-end inducements refer to appeals that directly communicate the message 
that the suspect will receive less punishment, a lower prison sentence and/or some form of 
police, prosecutorial, judicial or juror leniency and/or immunity if he complies with the 
interrogator’s demand that he confess, but that the suspect will receive a higher sentence or 
greater punishment if he does not comply with the interrogator’s demand that he confess.  High-
end inducements may either be implicit or explicit: the important question is whether the 
interrogation technique communicates the message, or is understood to communicate the 
message, that the suspect will receive a lower (or no) criminal charge and/or lesser (or no) 
punishment if he confesses as opposed to a higher criminal charge and/or greater amount of 
punishment if he does not. For example, if police interrogators lead a suspect to believe he will 
be able to go home and not be charged with a homicide if he confesses to witnessing the crime 
and fingering someone else as the triggerman, this would be a high-end inducement because it 
communicates immunity in exchange for making such a statement. 

 
Explicit high-end incentives can include telling a suspect that there are several degrees of 

the alleged offense, each of which carry different amounts of punishment, and asking the suspect 
which version he would like to confess to.  Or the interrogator may explicitly tell the suspect that 
he will receive a long prison sentence—or perhaps even the death penalty—if he does not 
confess to the interrogator’s version of events.  The interrogator may also point out what happens 
to men of the suspect’s age, or men accused of crime, in prison if the suspect does not confess to 
the interrogator’s minimized account.  Sometimes interrogators who rely on high-end 
inducements will present the suspect with a simple two-choice situation (good vs. bad): if the 
suspect agrees to the good choice (a minimized version of the offense, such as involuntary 
manslaughter or self-defense, or the implication of another person), he will receive a lower 
amount of punishment or no punishment at all; but if he does not confess right then, criminal 
justice officials will impute to him the bad choice (a maximized version of the offense, such as 
pre-meditated first degree murder, or that the suspect was acting alone), and he will receive a 
higher level of punishment, or perhaps the harshest possible punishment.14  The purpose of high-
end inducements is to communicate to a suspect that it is in his rational self-interest to confess to 
the minimized or less-incriminating version of events that the interrogator is suggesting because 
if the suspect does so, he will receive a lower charge, a lesser amount of punishment and/or no 
time in prison, but if he fails to do so, he will receive a higher charge, a greater amount of 
punishment and more time in prison, perhaps even the death penalty. 

 
To evaluate whether a particular interrogation was psychologically coercive, an expert 

must evaluate the interrogator’s techniques, methods, and strategies in the light of the generally 

                                                
14  This technique is sometimes referred to in the academic literature as the maximization/minimization technique. 

See Saul Kassin, Steven Drizin, Thomas Grisso, Gisli Gudjonsson, Richard A. Leo and Allison Redlich (2010). 
“Police-Induced Confessions: Risk Factors and Recommendations” in Law and Human Behavior, 34, 3-38; 
Richard A. Leo (2008), POLICE INTERROGATION AND AMERICAN JUSTICE (Harvard University Press). 
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accepted findings of the social science research literature on the subjects of interrogation, 
coercive influence techniques, and confessions.   

 
Social science research has repeatedly demonstrated that some systemic inducements 

(depending on the content of the inducement, how explicitly or vaguely it is stated, and the 
message that it communicates) and all high-end inducements are coercive because they rely on 
implicit and/or explicit promises of leniency and threats of harm to induce compliance.  Systemic 
and high-end inducements increase the likelihood of eliciting false confessions and false 
statements from suspects because of the quid pro quo arrangement and the benefit a suspect 
expects to receive in exchange for the information the interrogator is seeking, regardless of 
whether the suspect knows that information to be true or not.  Such promises of leniency and 
threats of harm are regarded as coercive in the social science literature because of the messages 
they convey and their demonstrated impact on the decision-making of individuals.  The expert 
may also evaluate whether the interrogation techniques, either individually or cumulatively, had 
the effect of causing a suspect to perceive that he had no choice but to comply with the demands 
of the interrogator, and thus, the interrogation, in effect, overbore the suspect’s will. 

 
VI. The Three Types of False Confessions 

 
False confessions and false statements, of course, will occur in response to traditionally-

coercive methods of interrogation such as the use of physical violence, threats of immediate 
physical harm, excessively long or incommunicado interrogation, or deprivation of essential 
necessities such as food, water, and/or sleep.  However, these types of traditionally coercive 
techniques no longer appear to be common in the United States.  The psychological techniques 
of interrogation that cross the line and sometimes cause false confessions typically involve one 
of two patterns: (1) the interrogator communicates to the suspect, implicitly or explicitly, that he 
will receive a higher charge and harsher sentence or punishment if he does not provide a 
satisfactory statement, but that he will receive a lesser charge or sentence, or perhaps no charge 
or punishment at all, if he does; or (2) the interrogator wears down and distresses the suspect to 
the point that the suspect subjectively feels that he has no choice but to comply with the 
interrogator’s demands if he is to put an end to the intolerable stress of continued interrogation 
and/or escape the oppressive interrogation environment. As will be discussed below, some 
individuals have a greater vulnerability to making false confessions both because of their 
individual characteristics (e.g., juveniles, the mentally handicapped, etc) or because of certain 
interrogation techniques (e.g., being promised freedom and immunity in exchange for admitting 
to witnessing a crime). 

 
Whether a police-induced false confession or statement is caused primarily by coercive 

interrogation techniques or by a suspect’s pre-existing vulnerabilities to interrogation, or some 
combination of both, there are three fundamental types of false confessions and statements: a 
voluntary false confession or statement (i.e., a false confession knowingly given in response to 
little or no police pressure); a coerced- or stress-compliant false confession or statement (i.e., a 
false confession knowingly given to put an end to the interrogation or to receive an anticipated 
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benefit or reward in exchange for confession); and a coerced- or non-coerced-persuaded false 
confession or statement (i.e., a confession given by a suspect who comes to doubt the reliability 
of his memory and thus comes to believe that he may have committed the crime, despite no 
actual memory of having done so).15  These different types of false confession typically involve 
different levels of police pressure, a different psychology of influence and decision-making, and 
different beliefs about the likelihood of one’s guilt.   Regardless of type, false confessors 
typically recant their confessions shortly after they are removed from the pressures and 
reinforcements of the interrogation environment.   

 
VII. The Three Sequential Police Errors  

That Can Lead to False (But Sometimes Detailed) Confessions  
	
  

There are three important decision points in the interrogation process that are known to 
be linked to false confessions or statements. The first decision point is the police decision to 
classify someone as a suspect.  This is important because police only interrogate individuals 
whom they first classify as suspects; police interview witnesses and victims.  There is a big 
difference between interrogation and interviewing:  unlike interviewing, an interrogation is 
accusatory, involves the application of specialized psychological interrogation techniques, and 
the ultimate purpose of an interrogation is to get an incriminating statement from someone whom 
police believe to be guilty of the crime.  False confessions or statements occur when police 
misclassify an innocent suspect as guilty and then subject him to a custodial interrogation, and 
are satisfied with elicitation of a version of events that, in fact, is not true.  This is one reason 
why interrogation training manuals implore detectives to investigate their cases before subjecting 
any potential suspect to an accusatorial interrogation.16  

  
 The second important decision point in the process occurs when the police interrogate 

the suspect.  Again, the goal of police interrogation is to elicit an incriminating statement from 
the suspect by moving him from denial to admission.  To accomplish this, police use 
psychologically-persuasive, manipulative, and deceptive interrogation techniques.  As described 
in detail in the previous sections, police interrogators use these techniques to accuse the suspect 
of committing the crime, to persuade him that he is caught and that the case evidence 

                                                
15 See Richard Ofshe and Richard A. Leo (1997) “The Social Psychology of Police Interrogation: The Theory and 

Classification of True and False Confessions.”  Studies in Law, Politics & Society, Vol. 16. Pp. 189-251. 

16  Fred Inbau, John Reid and Joseph Buckley (1986).  CRIMINAL INTERROGATION AND CONFESSIONS, 
Third Edition (Baltimore, MD: Williams & Wilkins) at 3 (“Prior to the interrogation, and preferably before any 
contact with the suspect, become thoroughly familiar with all the known facts and circumstances of the case.”).  
See also Fred Inbau, John Reid, Joseph Buckley and Brian Jayne (2013).  CRIMINAL INTERROGATION 
AND CONFESSIONS, 5th Edition (Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning) at 18 (“One basic principle to 
which there must be full adherence is that the interrogation of suspects should follow, and not precede, an 
investigation conducted to the full extent permissible by the allowable time and circumstances of the particular 
case. The authors suggest, therefore, that a good guideline to follow is “investigate before you interrogate”). 
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overwhelmingly establishes his guilt, and then to induce him to confess by suggesting it is the 
best course of action for him.  However, properly trained police interrogators do not use 
physically- or psychologically-coercive techniques because they may result in involuntary and/or 
unreliable incriminating statements, admissions, and/or confessions.  

 
The third important decision point in the interrogation process occurs after the police 

have elicited an admission—an “I did it” statement—from the suspect.  This is referred to as the 
post-admission phase of the interrogation.  The post-admission phase of the interrogation is 
important because it is here that the police can acquire information and evidence that will either 
support or not support the accuracy of the suspect’s admission.  Properly-trained police 
interrogators should know that innocent people sometimes falsely confess to crimes they did not 
commit.17  Properly-trained police interrogators also know that guilty suspects sometimes 
implicate others for crimes they themselves committed in order to diminish their role in the 
crime.  Interrogators therefore will seek to elicit information (that is not generally known and 
cannot likely be guessed by chance) from the suspect that either demonstrates, or fails to 
demonstrate, independent knowledge of the crime scene details and case facts.  Properly-trained 
police interrogators, therefore, will not ask leading or suggestive questions and will not educate 
the suspect about details of the victim’s allegations or of the alleged crime.  Instead, they will let 
the suspect supply the details of the case independently.  Properly-trained police interrogators 
will also seek to test the suspect’s post-admission account against the physical and other credible 
evidence.  Truthful confessions and statements are typically corroborated by solid physical 
evidence and independent knowledge of underlying case facts that have not been suggested to 
the suspect; false confessions and false statements are not.18   

 
VIII. Populations with Particular Vulnerability in the Interrogation Room 

 
 While coercive and/or improper interrogation techniques are often the primary cause of 
false confessions, certain types or groups of individuals are far more vulnerable to the pressures 
of interrogation, having their will overborne and/or making a false confession.  This includes 

                                                
17 Although the “Reid” Manual (CRIMINAL INTERROGATION AND CONFESSIONS by Fred Inbau et al.) did 

not include a full chapter on false confessions until the Fourth Edition in 2001, the need for police interrogators 
to be diligent to avoid false confessions has been present for decades.  From the very first manual in 1942 and in 
all subsequent editions (1948, 1953, 1962, 1967, 1986, 2001 and 2013), it has repeatedly implored interrogators 
not to use any methods that are “apt to make an innocent person confess to a crime he did not commit,” 
implicitly, if not explicitly, suggesting that police interrogator do know that suspects can be made to falsely 
confess to crimes they did not commit. 

18 Richard A. Leo and Richard Ofshe (1998).  “The Consequences of False Confessions: Deprivations of Liberty 
and Miscarriages of Justice in the Age of Psychological Interrogation” The Journal of Criminal Law and 
Criminology.  Vol. 88, No. 2.  Pp. 429-496.  This observation has been made in the police interrogation training 
literature as well.  See also Fred Inbau, John Reid, Joseph Buckley and Brian Jayne (2013).  CRIMINAL 
INTERROGATION AND CONFESSIONS, 5th Edition (Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning) at 354-
360. 
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individuals who are mentally ill, and therefore may confess falsely because they are easily 
confused, disoriented, delusional or experiencing a non-rational emotional or mental state. This 
also includes juveniles and individuals with a low IQ or low-level cognitive functioning, who 
may be more vulnerable to interrogators because of their inability to understand the nature  
or gravity of their situation, their inability to foresee the consequences of their actions, their 
inability to cope with stressful situations and/or their eagerness to please others, especially 
authority figures.  Juveniles may also be more easily intimidated than adults and may lack the 
maturity, knowledge, or sense of authority needed to resist simple police pressures and 
manipulations.  Finally, this also includes individuals who, by their nature and personality, are 
naive, excessively trusting of authority, highly suggestible and/or highly compliant and who are 
therefore predisposed to believe that they have no choice but to comply with the demands of 
authorities or who simply lack the psychological resources to resist the escalating pressures of 
accusatorial interrogation.19  

 
IX. Evaluating the Reliability of Incriminating 

Statements, Admissions and Confessions 
 

In addition to studying the psychology of police interrogation and the correlates and 
causes of false confessions from the innocent, scientific researchers have also analyzed the 
patterns, characteristics and indicia of reliability in true and false confession cases.  To evaluate 
the likely reliability or unreliability of an incriminating statement, admission or full confession 
from a suspect, scientific researchers analyze the fit between the suspect’s post-admission 
narrative and the crime facts and/or corroborating evidence derived from the confession (e.g., 
location of the missing murder weapon, loot from a robbery, the victim’s missing clothing, 
etc.).20 

 
The purpose of evaluating the fit between a suspect’s post-admission narrative and the 

underlying crime facts and derivative crime evidence is to test the suspect’s actual knowledge of 
the crime. If the suspect’s post-admission narrative corroborates details only the police know, 
leads to new or previously undiscovered evidence of guilt, explains apparent crime fact 
anomalies and is corroborated by independent facts and evidence, then the suspect’s post-
admission narrative objectively demonstrates that he possesses the actual knowledge that would 
be known only by the true perpetrator and therefore is strong evidence of guilt.  If the suspect 
cannot provide police with the actual details of the crime, fails to accurately describe the crime 
                                                
19  See Saul Kassin, Steven Drizin, Thomas Grisso, Gisli Gudjonsson, Richard A. Leo and Allison Redlich (2010). 

“Police-Induced Confessions: Risk Factors and Recommendations” in Law and Human Behavior, 34, 3-38; 
Richard A. Leo (2008), POLICE INTERROGATION AND AMERICAN JUSTICE (Harvard University Press). 

20    See Richard Ofshe and Richard A. Leo (1997) “The Social Psychology of Police Interrogation: The Theory and 
Classification of True and False Confessions.”  Studies in Law, Politics & Society, Vol. 16. Pp. 189-251; and 
Richard A. Leo and Richard Ofshe (1998).  “The Consequences of False Confessions: Deprivations of Liberty 
and Miscarriages of Justice in the Age of Psychological Interrogation” The Journal of Criminal Law and 
Criminology.  Vol. 88, No. 2.  Pp. 429-496.   
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scene facts, cannot lead the police to new or derivative crime evidence, and/or provides an 
account that is full of gross errors and disconfirmed by the independent case evidence, then the 
suspect’s post-admission narrative demonstrates that he fails to possess the actual knowledge that 
would be known only by the true perpetrator and is therefore strongly consistent with innocence. 
Indeed, absent contamination, the fit between the suspect’s post-admission narrative and both the 
crime scene facts and the derivative crime evidence therefore provides an objective basis for 
evaluating the likely reliability of the suspect’s incriminating statements.   

 
The well-established and widely accepted social science research principle of using the fit 

standard to evaluate the validity of a confession statement is also a bedrock principle of criminal 
investigation within law enforcement.  Properly trained police detectives realize that an “I did it” 
statement is not necessarily evidence of guilt and may, instead, turn out to be evidence of 
innocence.  For example, in high-profile murder cases, police regularly screen out volunteered 
confessions by seeing whether or not the person can tell the police details known only to the 
perpetrator or lead the police to derivative crime evidence that either corroborates, or fails to 
demonstrate, the person’s guilty knowledge.  Police often keep particularly heinous or novel 
aspects of the crime from the press so that they can be used to demonstrate a confessor’s guilty 
knowledge.  Police sometimes deliberately include an error in media releases or allow incorrect 
statements to go uncorrected so that a true perpetrator will be able to demonstrate his personal 
knowledge of the crime.  In other types of cases, police detectives regularly rely upon the fit 
standard to identify a true admission that might be mixed in with a collection of volunteered 
statements.   

 
Using the fit standard to evaluate the validity of a suspect’s incriminating statements, 

admissions or confessions is a bedrock principle of law enforcement because police detectives 
realize that seeking corroboration during the post-admission phase of interrogation is essential to 
proper investigative work.21  This is because it is a fundamental principle of police investigation 
that true explanations can be supported and false explanations cannot be supported (assuming no 
contamination has occurred), and because false explanations will not fit the facts of the crime, 
lead to derivative evidence or be corroborated by independent evidence.   

 
Moreover, post-admission narrative analysis and the fit standard are central to proper 

criminal investigation because properly-trained detectives should realize that the purpose of 
detective work is not to clear a crime or get a conviction, but to carefully collect evidence in a 
way that will lead to the arrest, prosecution and conviction of the guilty while at the same time 
ensuring that no innocent individual is wrongly arrested, prosecuted or convicted.   

 
A suspect’s post-admission narrative therefore provides a gold mine of potential evidence 

to the unbiased, properly-trained detective who is seeking to ferret out the truth.  If the suspect is 
                                                
21  Fred Inbau, John Reid, Joseph Buckley and Brian Jayne (2013). CRIMINAL INTERROGATION AND 

CONFESSIONS, 5th Edition (Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning) at 354-360. 
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guilty, the collection of a detailed post-admission narrative will allow the detective to establish 
the suspect’s guilt beyond question, both by demonstrating the suspect’s actual knowledge and 
by corroborating the suspect’s statements with derivative evidence.  Properly-trained detectives 
realize that the strongest form of corroboration comes through the development of new evidence 
using a suspect’s post-admission narrative.  While it is not possible to verify every post-
admission narrative with the crime facts, a skillful interrogator will seek as much verifiable 
information about the crime as he can elicit.  The more verifiable information elicited from a 
suspect during the post-admission period and the better it fits with the crime facts, the more 
clearly the suspect demonstrates his responsibility for the crime. 

 
If the suspect is innocent, the detective can use the suspect’s post-admission narrative to 

establish his lack of knowledge and thus demonstrate his likely or certain innocence.  Whereas a 
guilty suspect can corroborate his admission because of his actual knowledge of the crime, the 
innocent suspect cannot.  The more information the interrogator seeks, the more frequently and 
clearly an innocent suspect will demonstrate his ignorance of the crime.  His answers will turn 
out either to be wrong, to defy evaluation, or to be of no value for discriminating between guilt 
and innocence.  Assuming that neither the investigator nor the media have contaminated the 
suspect by transferring information about the crime facts, or that the extent of contamination is 
known, the likelihood that his answers will be correct should be no better than chance.  Absent 
contamination, the only time an innocent person will contribute correct information is when he 
makes an unlucky guess. The likelihood of an unlucky guess diminishes as the number of 
possible answers to an investigator’s questions grows large.  If, however, his answers about 
missing evidence are proven wrong, he cannot supply verifiable information that should be 
known to the perpetrator, and he inaccurately describes verifiable crime facts, then the post-
admission narrative provides evidence of innocence. 

 
This, of course, assumes that the suspect’s knowledge of the crime has not been 

contaminated by the media, community gossip, the police or some other source with inside 
knowledge about crime details.  If a suspect has learned unique or non-public crime facts from 
one of these sources, then the fact that his confession contains these details is, of course, not 
indicative of pre-existing knowledge or probative of guilt. This problem is discussed in detail in 
the following section.  Finally, it is worth mentioning that in some cases police interrogators 
contaminate a suspect with a perceived fact that they believe to be true at the time of the 
interrogation but which subsequently turns out to be provably false.  Such provably false fed 
facts are also regarded as an indicia of the confession’s falsity. 

 
X. The Problem of Contamination 

 
The post-admission narrative process is about more than merely eliciting information 

from the suspect.  Investigators in practice have been observed to shape the suspect’s narrative to 
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make the confession as persuasive as possible and to enhance the chances of conviction.22  In this 
way, confessions are scripted or constructed by interrogators.  A persuasive crime narrative 
requires an explanation of why the crime happened— the motives and explanations of the 
suspect for committing the crime.  It also should contain a statement of the suspect’s emotions, 
not only his or her emotions at the time of committing the crime, but also the shame, regret, or 
remorse the suspect now feels for having committed the crime.  Interrogators are also trained to 
get the suspect to cleanse the interrogation process, usually by providing statements to the effect 
that the confession was voluntary.  Interrogators will ask the suspect, usually after the suspect’s 
resistance has been broken down and he has been made to believe that it is in his best interests to 
confess, whether the suspect was treated well, given food and drink, bathroom breaks, and other 
comforts, and whether any promises or threats were made to the suspect.  Finally, and perhaps 
most importantly, interrogators seek to ensure that the confession contains both general and 
specific crime knowledge—the details of the crime that only the true perpetrator should know.  

 
The problem of contamination in false confession cases arises when the interrogator 

pressures a suspect during the post-admission narrative phase to accept a particular account of 
the crime story—one that usually squares with the interrogator’s theory of how the crime 
occurred—and then suggests crime facts to the suspect, leads or directs the suspect to infer 
correct answers, and sometimes even suggests plausible motives for committing the crime.23  
Because they are trained to presume the guilt of those whom they interrogate, American police 
assume that they are interrogating suspects who already know the correct crime facts.  But this is 
not true when they are mistakenly interrogating an innocent person.   

 
Instead, the innocent suspect is pressured to use facts disclosed to him by his 

interrogators in order to construct a plausible-sounding confession and post-admission narrative.  
Indeed, the presence of these details in the suspect’s confession falsely gives the suspect’s 
narrative credibility and the appearance of corroboration.  Moreover, suspects who have been 
pressured and coerced into falsely confessing are motivated to please their interrogator(s) in 
order to put an end to the interrogation, and, as a result, often will make up and/or embellish 
known or suggested facts in order to make their confession seem more plausible and pleasing to 
the interrogators who, at that moment, control their fate in the interrogation room. After police 
interrogators have contaminated the suspect with non-public crime facts, they often attribute 
“guilty knowledge” to the suspect when he repeats back and incorporates into his confession the 
very facts that they first educated him about.  One researcher has called these contaminated 
details “misleading specialized knowledge.”24  In many false confession cases, police and 
prosecutors argue that the suspect’s confession corroborates his guilt because he “knows facts 
only the true perpetrator would know,” even though the suspect first learned these facts from his 
                                                
22 Richard A. Leo (2008).  POLICE INTERROGATION AND AMERICAN JUSTICE (Harvard University Press) 

at 165-194. 
23    Richard A. Leo (2008), POLICE INTERROGATION AND AMERICAN JUSTICE (Harvard University Press). 
24    Gisli Gudjonsson (2003), THE PSYCHOLOGY OF INTERROGATIONS AND CONFESSIONS: A 

HANDBOOK (John Wiley & Sons Inc). 
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interrogators.  Police contamination and scripting therefore. increase the risk that false 
confessions, once given, will cause third parties to erroneously believe that they contain indicia 
of reliability and thus increase the risk that the (contaminated) false confession will lead to a 
wrongful conviction. 

 
Of course, if the interrogation process is not electronically recorded, the interrogator is 

free to assert that these crime facts were volunteered by the suspect and the trial may devolve 
into a swearing contest between the suspect and the interrogators over who was the source of the 
details in the confession.  If the entire process is recorded, however, then it may be possible to 
trace the contamination.    

 
Researchers have found that contamination by police regularly occurs in interrogation-

induced false confession cases.  In a study of the first two-hundred and fifty (250) post-
conviction DNA exonerations of innocent prisoners in the American criminal justice system, 
Professor Brandon Garrett of the University of Virginia Law School showed that this pattern was 
present in 95% of the false confession cases in this data set (38 of 40 cases).  In other words, in 
the overwhelming majority of these proven false confession cases, police interrogators fed the 
suspect unique non-public facts that “only the true perpetrator would know,” but the prosecutor 
erroneously alleged that the suspect volunteered these facts and that the suspect thereby 
corroborated the reliability of his confession.  But because the jury in each case mistakenly 
believed the prosecutor rather than the defense, each of the confessors was convicted, and in 
each of these cases the defendant’s innocence (and the falsity of the confession) was only proven 
many years later by DNA.25  In a recent follow-up study more recent false confession DNA 
exonerations, Garrett found that another 21 of 23 (91%) were contaminated.26 

 
In sum, the problem of contamination means that when applying the fit test to assess the 

reliability of the confession, it is essential to separate out the contaminated facts from the facts 
that unquestionably were provided by the defendant. 

 
XI. The Interrogation and Statements of Trent Richardson   

 
 According to Trent Richardson, the Kings County District Attorney’s Office literally 
kidnapped him from the judge’s chambers during the Kevin Smith trial.  During this time, 
according to Mr. Richardson, the Kings County District Attorney’s Office lied to him, as well as 
to the judge, defense attorneys and family members.  The Kings County District Attorney’s 
Office then charged Mr. Richardson with perjury in the first degree, and subsequently kept him 
hidden and locked up in a cold and damp police precinct cell for four days without allowing him 
to contact an attorney or family members, without providing him with hot food, and without 
allowing him to make a phone call, bathe or change his clothes.  The Kings County District 
                                                
25    Brandon Garrett (2011).  CONVICTING THE INNOCENT (Harvard University Press) 
26  Brandon Garrett (2015).  “Contaminated Confessions Revisited,” University of Virginia Law Review, 101, 395-

454. 
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Attorney’s Office offered to drop perjury charges if Mr. Richardson agreed to testify against 
Kevin Smith at his trial, even though Mr. Richardson had previously stated that he did not 
witness Kevin Smith shoot Gary Van Dorn nor did he witness the crime, and that his grand jury 
testimony used to indict Kevin Smith had been false. After four days of this treatment, Mr. 
Richardson agreed to testify against Kevin Smith, and was the only witness against Mr. Smith, 
who was ultimately convicted of murder.  
 
 The conditions of Mr. Richardson’s confinement and interrogation were highly coercive 
and involved the use of two sets of situational risk factors for interrogation-induced false 
statements, admissions and/or confessions according to the psychological science. 

 
1) Lengthy Interrogation.  Lengthy interrogation/custody is a situational risk factors for 

making or agreeing to a false statements, admissions and/or confessions during police 
interrogation.27  Empirical studies indicate that the overwhelming majority of routine custodial 
interrogations last less than one hour,28 whereas the combined time period of custody and 
interrogation in most interrogations leading to a false confession is more than six hours.29 The 
Reid and Associates police interrogation training manual specifically recommends that police 
interrogate for no longer than four (4) hours absent “exceptional situations” and that “most cases 
require considerably fewer than four hours.”30  Lengthy detention and interrogation is a 
significant risk factor for false statements, admissions and/or confessions because the longer an 
interrogation lasts, the more likely the suspect is to become fatigued and depleted of the physical 
and psychological resources necessary to resist the pressures and stresses of accusatory 
interrogation,31 especially where investigators use physically or psychologically coercive 
methods.32  It can also lead to sleep deprivation, which, as mentioned earlier, heightens 
interrogative suggestibility by impairing decision-making abilities, such as the ability to 
anticipate risks and consequences, inhibit behavioral impulses and resist suggestive 
questioning.33  The longer an interrogation lasts, the more pressure investigators bring to bear on 
                                                
27  See Saul Kassin, Steven Drizin, Thomas Grisso, Gisli Gudjonsson, Richard A. Leo and Allison Redlich (2010). 

“Police-Induced Confessions: Risk Factors and Recommendations” in Law and Human Behavior, 34, 3-38. 
28    Richard A. Leo (1996).  “Inside the Interrogation Room,” Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 86, 266-

303.  See also Barry Feld (2013).  Kids, Cops and Confessions: Inside the Interrogation Room (New York, NY: 
New York University Press). 

29   Steven Drizin and Richard A. Leo (2004).  “The Problem of False Confessions in the Post-DNA World.  North 
Carolina Law Review, 82, 891-1007.  

30    Fred Inbau, John Reid, Joseph Buckley and Brian Jayne (2001).  CRIMINAL INTERROGATION AND 
CONFESSIONS, 4th Edition (Gaithersburg, Maryland: Aspen Publishers, Inc) at 597. 

31    Deborah Davis and Richard A. Leo (2012). “Interrogation Related Regulatory Decline: Ego-Depletion, Failures 
of Self-Regulation and the Decision to Confess” Psychology, Public Policy and Law, Vol 18. Pp. 673-704.  

32    Saul Kassin, Steven Drizin, Thomas Grisso, Gisli Gudjonsson, Richard A. Leo and Allison Redlich (2010). 
“Police-Induced Confessions: Risk Factors and Recommendations” in Law and Human Behavior, 34, 3-38. 

33    Mark Blagrove (1996). “Effects of length of sleep deprivation on interrogative suggestibility. Journal of 
Experimental Psychology: Applied, 2, 48-59.  See also Stephen Frenda, Shari R. Berkowitz, Elizabeth F. Loftus, 
and Kimberly M. Fenn (2016). “Sleep Deprivation and False Confessions.”  Proceedings of the National 
Academy of Sciences, 113, 2047-2050. 
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the suspect and the more techniques and strategies they may use to move the suspect from denial 
to admission.  Researchers consider the length of an interrogation to include both the time that a 
suspect is being questioned and/or accused as well as any breaks between questioning/accusation 
sessions because breaks between accusation and questioning add to the stress and fatigue of the 
interrogation and  sometimes is used as an interrogation technique itself.  Mr. Richardson was 
isolated, held in custody, and interrogated for an extraordinarily long period of time (4 days) 
before changing his account to fit the Kings County District Attorney’s Office’s demands. 

 
2) Explicit Threats and Promises. Mr. Richardson was threatened with a 7 year prison 

sentence for perjury if he did not cooperate with the prosecution and testify against Kevin Smith, 
but promised with leniency if he recanted his account he had not seen Kevin Smith shoot Gary 
Van Dorn nor did he witness the crime nor did he know who killed Gary Van Dorn.  Mr. 
Richardson understood that if he changed his account in response to the Kings County District 
Attorney’s Office’s threats, he would received leniency and freedom.  Once Mr. Richardson 
yielded to the coercion, the Kings County District Attorney’s Office dropped charges against him 
and Mr. Richardson was released. 

 
As discussed earlier, the use of explicit promises of leniency, immunity and/or a tangible 

benefit, as well as the use of explicit threats of harm, significantly increases the risk of eliciting 
an involuntary false statement, admission, and/or confession when applied to the innocent.  
Indeed, as empirical social science research has repeatedly demonstrated, promises of leniency—
like threats of harm or harsher punishment and whether explicit or implicit—are widely 
associated with police-induced false confession in the modern era and are believed to be among 
the leading causes.  Promises and threats (whether implied or express) are inherently coercive 
because they exert substantial pressure on a suspect to comply and thus can easily overbear the 
will or ability of a suspect to resist an interrogator’s demands or requests.  Like other high-end 
inducements, promises and threats contribute to creating a sense of despair and hopelessness 
about a suspect’s perceptions of his available options during interrogation.  This may be 
especially the case when one is not merely being promised leniency, but being promised 
complete freedom (i.e., immunity) in exchange for making a statement while being threatened 
with a harsh outcome if one refuses. There may be no psychological interrogation technique 
more potent than the use of threats and promises.  As discussed earlier, it is well-established that 
psychologically coercive interrogation techniques increase the risk of eliciting false and/or 
involuntary incriminating statements, admissions and/or confessions.   

 
XII. Conclusion 

 
In conclusion, based on my analysis above, it is my professional opinion that: 
 
1) It has been well-documented in the empirical social science research literature that a 

substantial number of innocent suspects have confessed during police interrogation to crimes 
(often very serious crimes such as murder and rape) that it was later objectively proven they did 
not commit.  Many witnesses have also been coerced into providing false accusations and/or 
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false testimony. The same principles apply to the interrogation of suspects as to the interrogation 
of witnesses: psychological coercion by police and/or prosecutorial authorities can and 
sometimes does lead to false statements, admissions and/or confessions.34   

 
2) The conditions of Trent Richardson’s interrogation were psychologically coercive.  

and contained interrogation techniques that are known to cause a person to perceive he or she has 
no choice but to comply with the demands and/or requests of his or her interrogators, and that are 
known to increase the risk of eliciting involuntary and/or unreliable statements, admissions 
and/or confessions. 

 
The opinions I express in this report are based on my own knowledge, research, and 

publications; research and publications in the field; and the case-specific information and 
evidence that has been provided to me.  Should any additional information or testimony come to 
my attention, I reserve the right to modify any opinions expressed herein accordingly. 

 
If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.   

 
Sincerely yours, 

 
 
Richard A. Leo, Ph.D., J.D. 
Hamill Family Professor of Law and  
Social Psychology 
University of San Francisco 

 
 

 
 

                                                
34  National Registry of Exonerations. http://www.law.umich.edu/special/exoneration/Pages/about.aspx 
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Professional Background 

 

I am Brian L. Cutler, Ph.D., Professor in the Faculty of Social Science and Humanities at 

the University of Ontario Institute of Technology (UOIT).  Prior to joining the faculty at UOIT, I 

was Assistant, Associate, and Full Professor and Associate Dean at Florida International 

University and Professor and Chair of the Department of Psychology at the University of North 

Carolina at Charlotte.  I have been conducting research on Forensic Psychology since 1984.   

 

I am past President of the American Psychology-Law Society, Division 41 of the 

American Psychological Association.  I am the past Editor-in-Chief of the peer-reviewed journal 

Law and Human Behavior.  I have authored or edited the following books:  

 

The APA Handbook of Forensic Psychology 

Conviction of the Innocent: Lessons from Psychological Research  

Reform of Eyewitness Identification Procedures  

Evaluating Eyewitness Identification  

Expert Testimony on the Psychology of Eyewitness Identification  

Encyclopedia of Psychology and Law  

 

In addition, I have authored about 30 book chapters and about 70 peer-reviewed journal 

about forensic and social psychology in peer-reviewed psychology journals, forensic psychology 

journals, or law journals (see my appended CV for details).  I have testified as an expert witness 

in various federal courts and 13 state courts (including New York) since 1989.  I continue to 

conduct research on eyewitness identification, false accusations, interrogations, and confessions. 

 
Opinions Sought 

 
 Mr. Lonnie Soury of Soury Communications, Inc., contacted me concerning the case of 

Mr. Kevin Smith.  Mr. Soury, a member of Mr. Smith’s defense team, requested from me an 

affidavit addressing the psychological basis behind false witness testimony.  More specifically, 

Mr. Soury asked that I comment upon the conditions to which Mr. Vernon Richardson was 

exposed, the likely effects that such conditions would have, and whether these conditions would 

increase the risk that Mr. Smith would falsely implicate Mr. Smith as the man who shot Gary 

Van Dorn on November 10, 1984. 

 

 Tepfer, Nirider, and Tricarico (2010) provided evidence of the role of false witness 

testimony in cases of wrongful conviction of youth, in general.  Tepfer et al. compiled a set of 

103 cases in which youth (under the age of 20) were wrongfully convicted.  The youth were, on 

average, 16.6 years old when the crimes occurred, 16.8 when they were accused, 18.0 when 

convicted, and 31.7 when exonerated.  According to the study: 

 

“a young witness’s unreliable statement contributed to another youth’s wrongful 

conviction in a full thirty-six of the 103 cases (34.9%).  After cases in which youthful 

defendants themselves confessed are added into the calculus, it becomes clear that a 

factually incorrect statement made by a youth—whether that statement implicated 

himself or another person—contributed to the conviction of fifty-seven of the 103 



exonerees studied, or an overwhelming 55.3% of the cases.  This figure strongly indicates 

that children and teens—whether victim, witness, or suspect— 

are uniquely susceptible to making factually incorrect statements, especially when the 

statements are extracted by the police.  Every child, after all, shares the same 

psychological vulnerabilities that make them, as a class, more likely to respond to intense 

police questioning by offering up false information.  Too often, however, police use the 

same overbearing and manipulative interrogation tactics described above not only while 

questioning youthful suspects, but also while questioning youthful witnesses.  The result 

is plain: unreliable statements given by children who feel that they must say what the 

police want to hear in order to escape the pressures of the interrogation or interview 

room” (pp. 909-910). 

 

Tepfer et al. also noted that in thirty cases they studied the suspect was incentivized (led 

to believe they would receive more lenient treatment) to give a false confession.  In another nine 

cases, the witness was incentivized to give a false statement that led to a wrongful conviction.  

The authors concluded: “This result vividly illustrates the risks that emerge when a youth is 

made to believe that he will get in trouble if he fails to ‘cooperate’ with authorities – in other 

words, if he fails to tell his questioners what he wants to hear.” 

 

 Instances of false testimony are not limited to youth.  One experiment demonstrated that 

coercive interrogation increased the risk of false accusations among university students (Loney 

& Cutler, 2016).  A case study demonstrated the powerful influence of coercive influence on the 

testimony of adult non-custodial witnesses – an eyewitness and alibi witnesses (Moore, Cutler, & 

Shulman, 2014).  The conditions under which the adult witnesses in Loney and Cutler’s (2016) 

experiment and in the Moore et al. case study pale in comparison to the conditions to which Mr. 

Richardson was exposed, as summarized below. 

 

 Mr. Richardson was 20 years old at the time of the shooting. Juvenile status and mental 

impairment are commonly cited ask risk factors for susceptibility to influence in criminal 

investigations (Kassin et al., 2010).  Youth are noted to be more suggestible, more obedient to 

authority, and less mature in their decision-making capacities than adults.  Youth are cognitively 

and socially less mature than adults, and the lower levels of maturity are manifested in impulsive 

decision-making, decreased ability to consider long-term consequences, increased engagement in 

risky behavior, and susceptibility to social influence (Kassin et al., 2010).  The vulnerability of 

juveniles in criminal investigation contexts has been recognized in law (Roper v. Simmons, 

2005), by trainers of police interrogation (Inbau et al., 2011), and in the forensic psychological 

literature (Kassin et al, 2010). 

 

 If Mr. Richardson’s age rendered him vulnerable to social influence at the outset, the 

situational pressures to which he was exposed would have greatly increased the risk of eliciting 

false testimony.  According to the July 31, 2015 Independent Review Panel report, Mr. 

Richardson was held in a cell in the 81st precinct for four days, isolated from a lawyer, family or 

friends, without a phone call, and without a hot meal and the opportunity to bathe and brush his 

teeth.  Further, Mr. Richardson, prior to being jailed, was told that he was charged with perjury 

and was facing a seven-year sentence.  According to the report, Mr. Richardson testified at the 



trial that his perjury charges would be dropped if he testified in accordance with the 

prosecution’s wishes. 

 

The combination of prolonged isolation, the lack of representation and social support, and 

the threat of a perjury conviction each has a powerful impact on susceptibility to social influence 

and increases the risk of compliance to authority by giving false statements (Kassin et al., 2010).  

In combination, these forces would only magnify the risk of giving false statements.  Prolonged 

deprivation and isolation are known to be highly stressful, impair decision-making, and enhance 

susceptibility to social influence (Kassin et al., 2010).  Further, offering an incentive for 

testimony (i.e., dropping the perjury charges) is a form of behavioral conditioning that is known 

to have powerful influences on behavior (Kassin et al., 2010).  The conditions to which Mr. 

Richardson were subjected would increase the risk of his giving a false statement in order to 

escape the deprivation and isolation and obtain the highly desired outcome of having the perjury 

charges and the associated seven-year sentence dropped. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 
 

Brian L. Cutler, Ph.D. 
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ELPIDIO R. DE LEON 

4768 Broadway #707                                                                                                     646-963-9032 
New York, N.Y. 10034                                                                                                   bad.crimmes@aol.com 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

PRIVATE INVESTIGATOR 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

More than 23 years with the New York City Police Department as a police officer and a detective with 
experience as a criminal investigator, narcotics investigator, and intelligence officer.  Excellent 
qualifications in case management, report writing, and digital technology.  Advanced in investigative 
techniques, problem solving, management skills, data gathering and analysis.  Involved with outer agencies 
and other law enforcement departments. Good presentation and communication skills.   

Hardworking, reliable, and dependable.  A team player and a positive motivator.  Ability to work together 
with various personalities.  Able to take control of a crisis in a professional, diplomatic, and tactful manner.   

Trained with up to date technologies used in research, reporting / documentation, internet search methods 
and online data sources.  Advanced in:  

   - Interviewing and Investigations                     - Tactical Field Operations    
   - Emergency planning and preparedness            - Counter Surveillance and Observation 
   - Rapid Response and crowd Control                 - Fraud Investigation and Documentation  
   - Intelligence gathering             - Interrogation 

Maintains extreme professionalism while actively involved in the various phases of an investigation or 
crisis.  Fluent in Spanish and English: reading, writing and speaking.   

_______________________________________________________________________________ 

AWARDS 

   -   Detective of the month  August 2005 
   -   Letter of commendation from the Mexican Consulate 2003 
   -   Essex County New Jersey letter of commendation  2002 
   -   Police letter of commendation  2001 
   -   Manhattan District Attorney’s letter of commendation 1995 
   -   Excellent Police Duty 1986, 1987 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

         NEW YORK CITY POLICE DEPARTMENT,   NY, NY       1985-2008 

Detective 1st Grade       (2006-2008) 
Detective 2nd Grade      (2002-2006) 
Detective 3rd Grade        (1991-2002) 
Police Officer           (1985-1991) 
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The ability to bring a positive attitude to an assignment or case while giving others the feeling of  trust, and 
closure.   

 - New York City Police Department                            (Continued) 

 - Detective Bureau:                                                     06/93-05/08 

- As a Detective, investigated crimes such as robberies, assaults, identity theft, fraud, and                                         
homicides.  Interviewed complainants and victims on a daily basis.  As the homicide               
coordinator, investigated many major media and high profiled murder cases.  Worked with       
outside agencies and traveled the country to apprehend some of the cities most wanted        
criminals.  Worked with America’s Most Wanted. 

                           

- Organized Crime Complaint Bureau:                         10/88-06/93  
            
- Entered as an investigative narcotics agent for the NYPD. Worked closely with undercover          
narcotics officers to establish cases against street and upper level narcotics distributors.                 
Gathered necessary intelligence on buy and bust operations and applied the information to            
effecting higher level arrests.  An expert in the field of identification and surveillance           
techniques.     

 - Uniformed Police Officer                                               01/85-10/88                             

- Patrolled assigned geographical areas, enforced the penal code, made arrests, issued summonses for 
violations, protected property, and ensured the public safety.     

____________________________________________________________________ 

 PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS  

Member, Detectives Endowment Association  1991-present 
Member, Minority Athletes networking Inc.  2010- present 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

EDUCATION and TRAINING 

- Baruch College , psychology major      - Police Academy                    
- Homicide Investigation Course                     - Interview & Interrogation 
- Special Protective Security Training               - Child Abuse Identification & Awareness 
- Criminal Investigation Course                         - Domestic Violence awareness training 
- Sex Crimes Training                                   - Anti Terrorist Training 
- Baruch College, Home Inspection 
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Private Investigator                                      09/2009 
ID # 11000150998 

- Licensed by the New York State Department of State Division of Licensing Services.  President and 
Principal Owner of C.R.I.M.M.E.S. Investigations & Security Consultants LLC.  Company established 
November 2009. Company currently maintains an address at 4768 Broadway #707 New York, N.Y. 10034.   
-Maintains the tradition of bringing the experience and training received from the NYPD to the public by 
offering the following services: 

- Criminal/Civil investigations   -Risk management consultation 
- Identity/Fraud investigations   -Matrimonial/Infidelity investigations 
- Missing Persons searches   -Executive/Dignitary protection 
- Security/Surveillance (24 hours)   -Background checks 
- Free consultation 

- Recognizes the interests of a client’s needs, by maintaining the integrity of their information, and       
reaching their objectives by giving them direction. 
- Provides free consultation to people, keeping them in control of their decisions, and eliminating the pay 

before you say theory.  
- Responsible for the (10) employees.  Supervising the finalization of cases, the distribution of field 

equipment, and maintaining logs. 
- Responsible for accounts, invoices, payroll, supplies.    

         Experience 

- Conducted investigations for attorney’s assigned to homicide cases in New York and Long Island. 
- Provided security for Mayor Bloomberg’s election event. 
- Conducted photo and video surveillance for clients on infidelity and matrimonial cases. 
- Provided security for AIG executives and their families.  
- Conducted electronic sweeps in apartment dwellings.  
- Federal CJA interviews of witnesses.   

         Training and Licenses 

- Licensed Private Investigator 
- Certified Security Guard Instructor 
- Home Inspection 
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Docket/Indictment # 2183/1986 
 
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
COUNTY OF KINGS 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, 
 
  -against  -                                                     
        
KEVIN SMITH, 
                             Defendant. 
 
 
 

NOTICE OF MOTION, AFFIRMATION 
 
 

JUSTIN BONUS, ESQ. 
Attorney for : KEVIN SMITH 
118-35 Queens Blvd., Suite 400 
Forest Hills, New York 11375 

Tel: (347) 920-0160 
Fax: (888) 237-8686 

Justin.bonus@gmail.com 
 

 
Pursuant to 22 NYCRR 130-1.1, the undersigned, an attorney admitted to practice in the courts of 
New York State, certifies that, upon information and belief and reasonable inquiry, the contentions 
contained in the annexed document are not frivolous. 
 
Dated:______________  Signature:       
 
 
Service of a copy of the within:_______________________  is hereby admitted. 
 
Dated:______________  Signature:       
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